
Date Published: 4 July 2017     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 13 July 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

SCRUTINY ITEMS

4  Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2016/17 

The Independent Chair of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
(GSCB) to present the Annual Report.

TO FOLLOW

Dave McCallum

5  Ofsted Inspection of Services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers (Pages 7 - 76)

The committee to debate the report and consider how it wishes to engage in 
the improvement work.

To support the debate reports focusing on safeguarding performance for 
Quarter 4 2016/17, and the revenue outturn report 2016/17 are attached to 
the agenda.

The performance report can be found at pp 49 to 68

The revenue outturn report can be found at 69 to 76

Alison Williams



    

Membership – Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Andrew Miller, 
Cllr Loraine Patrick, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman), Cllr Jack Williams and 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Added Members - Dr Richard Castle (Primary Sector Parent Governor Representative)

Co-Opted Member - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese) and Ambassador for Vulnerable Children 
and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 15 June 2017 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Charlotte Blanch
Dr Richard Castle
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Andrew Miller

Cllr Loraine Patrick
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children & Young P
eople
Cllr Brian Robinson (Chairman)
Cllr Jack Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE

Substitutes: Cllr Phil Awford (In place of Cllr Alan Preest)

Others in attendance: Neelam Bhardwaja - Interim Director of Improvement and 
Operations
Tim Browne - Head of Education
Alison Williams – Interim Director of Children’s Services
Cllr Richard Boyles – Cabinet Member Children and Young People

Apologies: Cllr Alan Preest

1. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
1.1 The Chairman informed the committee that he thought it would be more appropriate to 

defer this decision until later in the council year to allow new members and the new 
committee settle into their roles, and be better able to consider whether a Vice Chairperson 
was necessary.

1.2 However the Liberal Democrat members on the committee disagreed with this view and 
proposed and seconded Cllr Jack Williams. 

1.3 The Labour member felt that should the Chairman be unavailable for a meeting it would be 
sufficient to elect a Chairperson on the day.

1.4 As there was no one view across the committee membership on this matter the Chairman 
asked members to vote on whether they wished to defer the election of a Vice Chairperson. 
The outcome of the vote was that the committee would defer the election of a Vice 
Chairperson.

1.5 In response to a question the Chairman explained that he wanted the committee to have 
regular work planning meetings to plan the committee’s work.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Richard Castle declared a personal interest as a governor at Gastrells Community Primary 
School.

Cllr Brian Robinson declared a personal interest as a governor at Dene Magna School, as 
a member of the Management Committee of the Gloucestershire Alternative Provision 
School, and as a Foster Carer.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Charlotte Blanch declared a personal interest as an adoptive parent, and as Headteacher 
of the Catholic School of St Gregory the Great.

Cllr Phil Awford declared a personal interest as a governor of Minsterworth Church of 
England Primary School.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 9 MARCH 2017 
The minutes of the meeting on Thursday 9 March 2017 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

4. CO-OPTION OF THE ROLE OF AMBASSADOR FOR VULNERABLE CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
The committee agreed to co-opt the role of Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young 
People on to the committee for the duration of this council (2017 – 2021).

5. OFSTED INSPECTION OF SAFEGUARDING AND CARE SERVICES - INTERIM 
BRIEFING 

5.1 The Chairman explained that the Interim Director of Children’s Services (DCS) would take 
the committee through the process and procedure required by the council in response to 
the findings of the Ofsted Inspection Report. 

5.2 The Interim DCS informed the committee that having been judged to be inadequate the 
council would receive an Improvement Notice, which was a non-statutory intervention. It 
was explained that this meant that the Department for Education (DfE) recognised that 
(with support) the council has the capacity to improve. To support this process the council 
has been allocated an external consultant who would work with us three to four days a 
month for the coming year. 

5.3 The council was required to establish an Improvement Board (IB) and the make-up of this 
Board would be determined in consultation with the DfE Advisor. This Board would meet 
monthly to review progress in relation to leadership and management, and help and 
protection; and the entire Improvement Plan would be reviewed on a quarterly basis. The 
DfE would review progress in 6 months time. A number of workstreams would report into 
the Improvement Board:-
 in Care and Care Leavers
 Leadership and Management 
 Help and Protection
 Children Education
 Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board (GSCB) Multi Agency Improvements
 Finance

5.4 The council was required to submit its Improvement Plan to the DfE by 20 September 
2017. Ofsted would undertake quarterly monitoring visits to review progress against the 
Improvement Plan and to undertake case file audits; these visits would be over two days.  
The council could expect Help and Protection Services to be re-inspected in 12 to 18 
months time. 

5.5 The committee was assured that immediate action had been taken with regard to the cases 
identified during the inspection. Action has also been taken to address the drift and delay in 
cases, including the delay in getting minutes and actions from child protection conferences 
out promptly.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

5.6 Members were deeply concerned with the findings of the inspection report. It was noted 
that the outcome of the Ofsted inspection in 2011 had been poor and the recommendations 
from that inspection had been taken forward seemingly to no avail; and it was suggested 
that there were potential learning opportunities from this earlier work. The Interim Director 
of Children’s Services informed the committee that there had been a lot of work to address 
the 2011 inspection, but that, in retrospect, this had been too centralised and had not 
engaged the frontline sufficiently. It was also important to bear in mind the 20% increase in 
demand and the fact that 50% of the social worker workforce were newly qualified. The 
Interim Director of Improvement and Operations informed members that in 2011 issues 
relating to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) were not so prevalent, and similarly there was 
now a better understanding and recognition of the impact of the ‘toxic trio’ (domestic abuse, 
mental ill health, drug and alcohol misuse). 

5.7 The Interim Director of Improvement and Operations informed the committee that when 
considering case work there had not been sufficient thought about the impact on the child. 
Going forward it would be important that everyone understood what good practice looked 
like; and a clear understanding that everything should be done with the child at the centre. 

5.8 A committee member commented that there seemed to be a lack of awareness at the 
strategic level as to what the issues were at the front line. He also stressed the importance 
of mental health support to children and their families and asked whether this aspect would 
form part of the improvement board work going forward. The committee was assured that 
this would be part of the work, and the Future in Mind Strategy was the key driver in this 
respect.

5.9 Members reiterated their concerns and anger, and for some members a feeling that they 
had been lied to. It was asked why people had not been asking questions. There was an 
acknowledgement that culture change was challenging. Members also wanted the 
Improvement Board (IB) process to be as open and transparent as possible. It was 
explained that the issue of transparency was being considered; and that it was beneficial 
that the external consultant, who would Chair the IB, would give an external view on 
progress. With regard to quality assurance the council was looking to bring in an 
independent consultant to audit cases on a monthly basis to ascertain whether they were 
seeing improved practice.

5.10 The Interim DCS informed members that she has asked corporate services (eg. human 
resources) to take on some responsibilities (eg. exit interviews), and the Performance and 
Data team to present their analysis of Children’s Social Care performance data. These 
steps were being taken as it was felt that previously every thing was too ‘in-house to 
Children’s Social Care. In addition scrutiny should request to see qualitative data on case 
file audits to enable them to triangulate information to inform their view of services.

5.11 It was questioned, by a committee member, what this committee could do to scrutinise this 
process, and indicated that he wanted to call in the Leader of the Council, the Chief 
Executive, the previous Cabinet Member and previous Chairman of this committee and 
wanted to understand if the committee was able to do this. He also wanted to know what 
financial settlements have been reached with officers who have left the council as a result 
of this inspection. He also informed the committee that he was dismayed at the loss of the 
‘shadows’. He was concerned that the Adoption Service, which was performing well, would 
now be part of the Adoption West regional body, and questioned how much time officers 
had spent on this matter when they should have been doing other things. He also 
questioned why the meeting today was only considering process going forward rather than 
questioning the detail. He also stated that a request had been submitted for an 
extraordinary meeting of council and that this committee should support that request. The 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

committee was informed that the Chairman of Council had agreed to this request and that 
this matter would be considered on 28 June 2017.
(Post meeting note: these questions were also asked at the meeting of full council on 28 
June 2017 and the detail can be located at this link 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=8397&Ver=4.) 

5.12 The Chairman of the committee explained that as the inspection report had only been 
published two days ago it was important that all members had the opportunity to read and 
digest the contents, and recommendations, and give due consideration to the best way to 
scrutinise the improvement work. 

5.13 With regard to the committee’s role going forward members were reminded that the 
meeting in July 2017 would be focused on safeguarding, and this would give the 
opportunity to explore and identify options for the committee. The inspection report was the 
culmination of discussion with council members and staff and identified areas for 
improvement and the committee might wish to focus on these outcomes. It was expected 
that an LGA Advisor would be in attendance at the meeting in July to guide and advise the 
committee. 

5.14 The Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People informed the committee that in 
the time she has worked at the council the Ambassadors have noticed a lack of evidence, 
in particular how impact was measured, and insufficient multi-agency working. The Clifton 
Diocesan representative informed the committee that some schools had been trying to 
raise concerns for some time and so from her perspective this outcome was not a surprise.

5.15 In conclusion, the Chairman assured members that the committee would be considering 
this matter in detail at the meeting on 13 July 2017.

6. OVERVIEW OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
6.1 It was noted that as this was the first meeting of the committee in the new council it was 

important to set out the landscape of children’s services to inform new members of the 
committee. The detailed presentation by the Interim Director of Children’s Services, and 
Head of Education, included the council’s statutory duties, the legislative background, the 
role of the local authority in education, and how the budget was allocated. (For information 
the presentation slides were uploaded to the council website.)

6.2 In response to a question members were updated on the current position with regard to 
section 20 placements. Members were pleased to note that the Interim Director 
Improvement and Operations has already met with the Bristol family court judge to discuss 
concerns that he has previously raised regarding practice at the council. The judge was 
happy to work with the council, and had offered to undertake a workshop with social 
workers to support their knowledge, understanding and expectations of the court process.

6.3 Members agreed that it was good to be able to draw on the data from the Online Pupil 
Survey (OPS). It was good to see that the OPS was showing that there was less bullying, 
although it was of concern to see that less young people reported being happy, were less 
confident about the future, and that some young people reported regularly feeling so 
worried about something that they could not sleep at night. 

6.4 The education landscape has changed dramatically and it was important that committee 
members have a clear understanding of the council’s role in this regard. It was noted that 
the committee expected to take a detailed look at this matter at the September 2017 

Page 4

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=8397&Ver=4


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

meeting, and would use this opportunity to follow up on the issue of Permanent Exclusions 
as requested by the committee in the previous council. 

6.5 There was clearly a lot of work for the committee to take forward, and the detail in the 
presentation had helped members to identify items (in addition to safeguarding issues) for 
future consideration. It would be important to prioritise the committee’s workload and the 
committee would therefore be undertaking regular work planning meetings. Items identified 
at this meeting were: -
 Children and young people’s mental health (as indicated by the OPS)
 Youth Offending System
 Young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) 
 Role of the local authority in education, and the national funding formula
 High needs strategy
 Permanent exclusions
 Children and young people educated at home
 Early years provision
 Demand on the system

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.24 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 1 

Gloucestershire 

 

Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and 

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1  

Inspection date: 27 February to 23 March 2017 

Report published: 13 June 2017 

 

Children’s services in Gloucestershire are inadequate 

1. Children who need help and protection Inadequate 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement 

 
2.1 Adoption performance Good 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Requires improvement 

3. Leadership, management and governance Inadequate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local 
authority functions carried out under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the 
report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out under the Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

 

   
 

2 

Executive summary 

Overall, services for children in Gloucestershire are inadequate.  
 
Senior leaders have not sufficiently prioritised or improved the quality of social work 
practice since services for children in need of help and protection were judged 
inadequate in 2011, and the quality of services to children and families has now 
deteriorated significantly. As a result, there are serious and widespread failures for 
children in need of help and protection.  
 
Serious concerns about the integrity of the current senior leadership team were 
raised during this inspection. Inspectors discovered significant discrepancies in some 
information provided to them by the senior leadership team, which demonstrated 
that some staff feel vulnerable, unsupported by senior managers and fearful of 
challenging or exposing poor practice. Relationships between senior managers and 
practitioners have broken down. Inspection findings and staff feedback, as well as an 
unprecedented number of whistleblowing concerns, demonstrate that the 
management oversight of children’s services is failing to protect children and 
families.  
  
However, there is evidence of recent financial and political will to improve services 
for children and families that has led to a number of new developments. 
Nevertheless, improvements have not been swift enough and have not been robustly 
monitored by senior leaders to ensure that they consistently deliver improved 
outcomes for children. Poor relationships between managers and staff, and a high 
number of inexperienced social workers, coupled with a high turnover of staff, have 
further compounded the ability of senior leaders to deliver sustained improvement. 
 
The quality and accuracy of performance information available to senior managers 
are poor and do not enable senior managers to scrutinise performance and social 
work practice rigorously enough. Quality assurance processes are underdeveloped 
and are not sufficiently well targeted or purposeful in identifying key weaknesses in 
practice. Audit activity has been limited, and findings from audits have not been 
collated effectively or used sufficiently well to drive improvement in children’s 
services. 
 
Management oversight is inadequate. It lacks rigour and direction. It continually fails 
to identify key weaknesses in social work practice or ongoing risks to children. The 
impact of child protection chairs and independent reviewing officers in securing 
better outcomes for children is limited. Key decisions and actions to support children 
are not pursued rigorously enough or completed in a timely manner.  
 
Significant weaknesses in social work practice are prevalent across help and 
protection, and in some areas of children looked after, children are not seen early 
enough by social workers, and significant delays in responding to their needs mean 
that some children are left exposed to unassessed risk for far too long. Thresholds 
for access to services are not consistently applied. Assessments, decision-making and 

Page 8



 

 

 3 

planning for children are poor and frequently adult-focused. Case records are poorly 
maintained.  
 
Children in need and child protection plans are not sufficiently clear or robust. 
Children experience a high number of repeat referrals and repeat child protection 
plans, as well as significant delays in initiating care proceedings. Strategy meetings 
are not always timely, and this inevitably leads to delays in child protection enquiries. 
 
Arrangements to identify and support children at risk of sexual exploitation are an 
improving area of practice. However, the quality of individual casework to protect 
young people continues to be variable. Young people are not routinely offered a 
return home interview after they have been missing.  
 
Delays in decisions to look after children mean that they do not always become 
looked after when they need to. However, children are visited frequently by their 
social workers and many receive a child-centred and sensitive service from workers 
who know them well. Permanency planning for children is not yet consistent and 
pre-proceedings work is not robust enough. Life-story work and direct work with 
children are effective when undertaken, but are not routinely embedded in practice.  
 
Educational outcomes for children in care are variable, and attainment and progress 
at key stage 2 through to key stage 4 are too low. School attendance by children in 
Year 11 and above is poor, and while improvement strategies are in place, these are 
not yet sufficiently effective in improving attainment and attendance for children. 
  
The local authority is in touch with the vast majority of its care leavers, who receive 
good support from personal advisers and access to a range of suitable 
accommodation. However, the local authority has not made sustained efforts to 
contact and keep in touch with all care leavers. The quality of pathway planning is 
poor. Some care leavers are placed in bed and breakfast accommodation with 
insufficient support, which is unacceptable. A high number of care leavers are not in 
employment, education or training.  
 
Some improvements to the quality of practice are taking place. These include the 
strengthening of early-help services and improved commissioning arrangements. The 
local authority has demonstrated a significant strength in the appointment of, and 
subsequent learning from, the young people who form the ‘ambassadors team’. They 
ensure that the experiences of vulnerable children and young people are highlighted 
and integrated well into service planning.  
 
Stable managers in the fostering and adoption teams continue to support and 
develop strong practice. Early permanence to adoption is highly effective in ensuring 
that children are placed at their adoptive home as early as possible. 

Page 9



 

 

   
 

4 

Contents 
Executive summary 2 

The local authority 5 

Information about this local authority area 5 

Recommendations 8 

Summary for children and young people 10 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection 11 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence 17 

Leadership, management and governance 29 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 34 

Executive summary 34 

Recommendations 35 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 35 

Information about this inspection 40 

 
 
 

  

Page 10



 

 

 5 

The local authority 

Information about this local authority area2 

Previous Ofsted inspections  

 The local authority operates one children’s home. This home was judged to be 
good at its most recent Ofsted inspection.  

 The last inspection of the local authority’s safeguarding arrangements was in 
February 2012. The local authority was judged to be adequate. 

 The last inspection of the local authority’s services for children looked after was in 
November 2010. The local authority was judged to be adequate. 

Local leadership  

 The director of children’s services (DCS) has been in post since August 2011. 

 The DCS is also responsible for some services for vulnerable adults. 

 The chief executive has been in post since May 2005. 

 The chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) has been in post since 
June 2014. 

 The local authority has commissioned out youth support services, including youth 
offending and targeted support for young people, including care leavers. The 
commissioned youth support service (Prospects) also provides leadership and 
management for children in care over the age of 11 and care leavers.  

 Children’s centre provision is provided by a national charity and two local social 
enterprises. 

Children living in this area 

 Approximately 124,799 children and young people under the age of 18 years live 
in Gloucestershire. This is 20.2% of the total population in the area. 

 Approximately 14.4% (at 31 August 2014) of the local authority’s children aged 
under 16 years are living in low-income families.  

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 10.83% (the national average is 14.5%) 

 in secondary schools is 7.55% (the national average is 13.2%). 

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 7.7% of all 
children living in the area, compared with 21.5% in the country as a whole.  

                                            

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 
with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 11



 

 

   
 

6 

 The largest minority ethnic group of children and young people in the area is 
Mixed and Asian British. 

 The proportion of children and young people with English as an additional 
language: 

 in primary schools is 7.5% (the national average is 20.1%)  

 in secondary schools is 5.2% (the national average is 15.7%).  

Child protection in this area 

 At 28 February 2017, 7,319 children had been identified through assessment as 
being formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is an increase from 
6,062 at 31 March 2016.  

 At 28 February 2017, 461 children and young people were the subject of a child 
protection plan. This is a reduction from 568 at 31 March 2016. 

 At 28 February 2017, 19 children lived in a privately arranged fostering 
placement. This is an increase from 18 at 31 March 2016.  

 In the two years prior to the inspection, seven serious incident notifications were 
submitted to Ofsted and three serious case reviews were completed by the local 
authority. 

 There are two serious case reviews ongoing at the time of the inspection. 

Children looked after in this area 

 At 28 February 2017, the local authority is looking after 604 children. This is an 
increase from 549 at 31 March 2016. Of this number:  

 91 (or 15%) live outside the local authority area 

 39 live in residential children’s homes, of whom 76% live out of the 

authority area 

 10 live in residential special schools,3 of whom a very small number live 

out of the authority area 

 473 live with foster families, of whom 10% live out of the authority area 

 22 live with parents, of whom a very small number live out of the 

authority area 

 28 children are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children.  

 In the past 12 months: 

 there have been 31 adoptions 

 40 children became the subject of special guardianship orders 

                                            

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or less per year. 

Page 12



 

 

 7 

 298 children ceased to be looked after, of whom 7% subsequently 

returned to be looked after 

 12 children and young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 

independent living 

 no children and young people ceased to be looked after or are now living 

in houses in multiple occupation.  

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 13



 

 

   
 

8 

Recommendations 

1. Ensure that thresholds for services are consistently understood and applied, 
so that all children receive an appropriate and timely response when they 
need it.  

2. Ensure that all work is allocated within appropriate timescales, and that 
consistent management oversight regularly reviews capacity and ensures that 
actions are implemented to safeguard children and progress their plans.  

3. Ensure that assessments of children, including children looked after, are 
timely and proportionate, identify risk and protective factors effectively, and 
lead to robust and measurable plans. 

4. Ensure that strategy meetings are timely and that there is effective safety 
planning for children prior to an initial child protection conference being held.  

5. Take immediate action to ensure that the quality of management oversight 
and supervision are strengthened, and that the support and guidance given to 
social workers are clearly evidenced to enable them to progress work 
effectively and in a timely way. (Paragraph 30 and 112) 

6. Take urgent steps to ensure that social workers and managers receive 
relevant child sexual exploitation training and that children who are identified 
as at risk of sexual exploitation are subject to a risk assessment, and offered 
responsive and appropriate help.  

7. Ensure that all young people who go missing from home and care are offered 
prompt return home interviews and that the information obtained is used 
effectively to support their safety plans.  

8. Ensure that children come into care in a planned way, whenever possible, and 
that prompt legal advice and immediate social work action ensure that pre-
proceedings work and care proceedings are both swiftly actioned and have a 
demonstrable and positive impact for children.  

9. Continue to improve short-term placement stability, particularly for older 
adolescents with complex needs, by expanding the resources and placement 
choice available.  

10. Ensure that the importance of permanency planning is understood by all staff, 
particularly professionals at the ‘front door’, and that it is implemented in a 
timely way for all children.  

11. Ensure that life-story work and direct work is offered within the child’s 
timescale to help them to understand their histories and experiences.  

12. Ensure that the quality assurance function and escalation process of both 
independent reviewing officers and child protection chairs are well embedded 

Page 14



 

 

 9 

and purposeful, and that their findings and challenges are well considered and 
acted upon to improve outcomes for children.  

13. Ensure that up-to-date, accurate data is collated and analysed to support the 
virtual school to evaluate impact and improvement for children looked after 
and their educational needs.  

14. Devise and implement effective strategies to reduce the number of care 
leavers who are not in education, employment or training, and provide 
Gloucestershire care leavers with opportunities for work experience, work 
placements and traineeships in the local authority.  

15. Ensure that social workers make sustained attempts to keep in touch with all 
care leavers and monitor their welfare effectively, while maintaining robust 
case records.  

16. Ensure that the quality of pathway plans is consistently good and that care 
leavers are actively encouraged to contribute to the content and development 
of these plans.  

17. Ensure that in circumstances where emergency bed and breakfast 
accommodation is used, these arrangements are risk-assessed and that the 
young person is robustly monitored and supported.  

18. Implement a system so that findings from reviews, audits, staff surveys, 
complaints and serious case reviews, and feedback from children, parents and 
carers, are collected, analysed, systematically actioned and regularly 
evaluated.  

19. Improve performance information, and ensure that data is accurate and 
consistently well used to understand the quality of performance in localities 
and practice areas, and that this informs robust planning for improvement.  

 
  

Page 15



 

 

   
 

10 

Summary for children and young people 

 Inspectors found that services for children in Gloucestershire have deteriorated 
since the last inspection in February 2011. This means that children who need 
help and protection do not always have the right help, at the right time, to keep 
them safe.  

 Social workers do not visit children and young people who are living with their 
own family regularly enough to make sure that they are safe. When they do visit 
children, they do not always record what the children tell them. This means that 
the plans that they make for children and their families are not always well 
informed.  

 Children and young people experience too many changes of social workers. 
Assessments and plans need to be clearer, so that everyone knows what has to 
change to make things better for children. 

 Senior managers do not always check that social workers are doing what they 
should be doing to make sure that children and families receive the help that they 
need quickly enough. This means that there are too many delays in families 
receiving help and support.  

 Some children are left in unsafe situations for too long. However, once the 
decision has been made for them to be looked after by the local authority, the 
planning for their care improves. Children have better support when they live with 
foster carers or family members.  

 Most children who are looked after by the local authority live in the same 
placement for a long time and have the help that they need to ensure that they 
are healthy and go to school regularly.  

 Children whose plan is for them to be adopted are very quickly placed with 
families and receive a very good level of support. Adopters speak highly of the 
support that they receive to ensure that children and young people remain settled 
and live in homes that best meet their needs. 

 Young people leaving care receive a service that needs to improve. They are 
given help to find suitable accommodation, and staff mostly keep in touch with 
them to provide help and support, but the quality of the written plans to help 
them to prepare for adult life is not good enough.  

 Senior managers are aware that there is much to be done to improve the service 
that children receive. They accept and now understand that keeping children and 
young people safe must be a priority.  

  

Page 16



 

 

 11 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

 Inadequate 

Summary 

Services for children in need of help and protection are inadequate, resulting in 
serious and widespread failures. Children are not seen early enough by social 
workers, and the significant delays in responding to their needs mean that some 
children are left exposed to unassessed risk for far too long. Thresholds for access 
to services are not consistently applied. Assessments, decision-making and 
planning for children are poor and frequently adult-focused. Case records are 
poorly maintained. When children do receive help, cases are stepped down to early 
help or closed too soon, without evidence of sustainable change and reduced risk. 
 
Not all work is allocated, and a lack of management oversight leaves children in 
situations of risk without their needs being assessed. Children’s views are not 
always clearly evident in assessments and plans. Social workers do not always visit 
children regularly enough to make sure that they are safe. When they do visit 
children, they do not always record what the children tell them, and this 
contributes to delays and poor decisions to protect them. 
 
The quality of assessments and plans is too variable. Although some are good, too 
many repeatedly fail to consider children’s histories to ensure that all risks to 
children are identified. Plans are often overly optimistic about the capacity of 
parents to change or their ability to protect their children, particularly for those 
children who experience domestic abuse, parental substance misuse or the 
cumulative impact of neglect. 
 
Strategy meetings are frequently delayed, and subsequent action plans are not 
consistently robust or measurable. There is a lack of safety planning for children 
between the strategy meetings and the initial child protection conferences. 
  
The provision of early-help services is improving. The development of a clearly 
understood early-help pathway is seeing an increase in the number of children 
benefiting from early-help provision. 
 
The quality of practice provided for children who go missing or who are at risk of 
child sexual exploitation, although improving, is not yet sufficiently robust for all 
children. Return home interviews are not always undertaken, leading to missed 
opportunities to engage effectively with young people. Child sexual exploitation 
risk assessments are not regularly updated to inform better safety planning for 
children. 

 

Page 17



 

 

   
 

12 

Inspection findings 

20. Inspectors found serious and widespread failures in services for children in 
need of help and protection. Severe weaknesses in performance monitoring, 
quality assurance, management oversight and the quality of social work 
practice have led to serious delays in assessing risk and putting plans in place 
to protect children. There are delays at every point of the child’s journey. 
Current systems and processes are ineffective. 

21. A significant number of children’s cases seen by inspectors were referred back 
to the local authority in which social workers and managers had failed to 
identify children at risk and, in particular, to respond appropriately to 
escalating risks in families. This included children left at potential risk of 
significant harm for far too long, and who required immediate action to 
safeguard them.  

22. Early-help services have recently been restructured and strengthened 
following an organisational review, in order to improve targeted interventions 
and increase the number of families accessing early-help provision. Services 
are being developed on a locality basis and are therefore becoming 
increasingly responsive to local need. Children’s centres are now providing a 
service for children from birth to 11 years of age, to support families as 
children move into secondary school. Increasing numbers of children have an 
early-help plan, and social workers report that they have a clearer 
understanding of the services available for children and families. Multi-
professional and multi-agency training has led to a more cohesive approach to 
assessment and planning for early help through ‘my assessment, my plan and 
my plan plus’.  

23. Initial contacts for children’s social care are screened by the triage service. 
Most are dealt with in a timely manner, with appropriate actions being 
identified. However, for a number of contacts, inspectors saw delays in 
decision-making for children. A lack of performance data and management 
oversight means that the effects of delay are not recognised or managed 
effectively. Thresholds for services are not understood as well as they should 
be by practitioners, including those from other agencies. The rationale for 
sending some initial contacts to the multi-agency safeguarding hub is not 
always clear, and contributes to further delays in assessments being allocated.  

24. Visits to children to assess their needs are not happening quickly enough. 
Local authority data for January 2017 identifies that only 60% of children are 
seen within appropriate timescales from referral, which leaves children in 
situations of unassessed risk for too long. 

25. The development of a multi-agency daily meeting to consider the needs of 
children and families exposed to domestic violence is effective. Appropriate 
information-sharing and decision-making result in a coordinated partnership 
approach and response. 

Page 18



 

 

 13 

26. Child protection strategy discussions are not held soon enough when concerns 
about children are first identified. Delays between strategy discussions and 
initial child protection conferences were seen in too many cases, without 
adequate safety planning in place to ensure that children are protected prior 
to the development of a multi-agency child protection plan. 
(Recommendation) 

27. Chronologies are not used well enough in care planning for children. Either an 
absence of chronologies or their ineffective use means that historical 
information about known risk to children does not routinely inform current 
planning. The impact of domestic abuse, adult substance misuse or parental 
mental health is not always understood or given sufficient focus in terms of 
the cumulative and emotional impact on children. There is an over-reliance on 
parental self-reporting, with insufficient challenge or consultation with 
partners to verify parents’ accounts of events and incidents. In stronger 
assessments, children’s views are clear and include a thorough assessment of 
risk with clear actions, but too many are descriptive and lack sufficient or 
effective analysis. (Recommendation) 

28. In too many cases, management oversight is absent or weak, and lacks rigour 
and direction. Supervision is happening on a regular basis but, in many cases, 
it is not used well enough to understand children’s safety and progress. 
Managers at all levels do not challenge poor practice. (Recommendation) 

29. In some cases, children and families are not allocated a social worker for 
several weeks, leaving children in situations of unassessed risk. The lack of 
management oversight, actions not being implemented, changes in social 
worker and a failure to recognise and respond to children’s changing 
circumstances contribute to children not being adequately supported or 
protected. At the time of the inspection, there were 47 children and young 
people who were unallocated within the Gloucester team. (Recommendation) 

30. Social work reports about children and families that are used in child 
protection conferences are not always supported by current assessments and 
up-to-date chronologies, and many reports lack sufficient analysis of risk. This 
means that decisions to protect children lack rigour.   

31. Advocacy is available to support children in child protection conferences, and 
is highly regarded as a valuable service that enables children to understand 
and participate in conferences. However, in some cases that were seen by 
inspectors, there was no evidence of any direct work with children to support 
their participation in child protection conferences. There is a lack of awareness 
among social workers of the availability of the advocacy service to support 
children. An absence of advocacy support for children in child protection core 
groups and children in need planning meetings hampers their full participation 
in important meetings.  

Page 19



 

 

   
 

14 

32. Overall, children’s plans are poor, with a lack of focus on risk and protective 
factors. Plans do not always contain the views of parents or children. Too 
many child protection plans do not identify the key risks to enable parents and 
professionals to be clear about what needs to change, to ensure that children 
are better protected and within what timescale, or the consequences if things 
do not improve. 

33. The absence of an escalation policy impedes the ability of child protection 
chairs to formally challenge poor social work practice. When concerns have 
been raised, they have not been responded to with sufficient rigour by senior 
leaders. (Recommendation) 

34. Processes to step up cases to statutory intervention or step down to early help 
are not embedded, and this has led to children not receiving an appropriate 
and timely service. When children cease to be the subject of a child protection 
plan, a child in need plan is implemented. However, in many cases, children in 
need plans lack rigour and are then stepped down to universal services far too 
early. Inspectors saw examples where a period of child protection and child in 
need planning had not achieved substantive change, resulting in children 
being re-referred within a short period of time for further help and protection. 
One third of child protection plans open at the time of the inspection were for 
children for whom this was a second or subsequent period of child protection 
planning. For this group of children, the previous plan had been closed too 
soon or the work to reduce risk had been largely ineffective. 

35. Poor management oversight and an absence of a formal review process mean 
that some children have been subject to a child protection plan for more than 
two years where improvements to their circumstances were not made or 
sustained. There is a lack of effective challenge and action to support 
improvement for children who are subject to a child protection plan. In 
particular, there is a failure to identify at an early stage when interventions 
are not reducing risk for these children. In a number of cases seen by 
inspectors, decisions to hold legal planning meetings and consider care 
proceedings are significantly delayed and, when decisions are made to initiate 
care proceedings, there are further delays before action is taken.  

36. Inconsistent attendance and participation by professionals at child protection 
conferences mean that there are insufficient multi-agency contributions to 
important discussions to help to keep children safe. Social work reports are 
not always shared with parents prior to a conference, which means that 
parents’ full participation in the conference is severely limited. 

37. Almost all children who are subject to a child protection or a child in need plan 
are visited by social workers in accordance with their plans. However, the 
frequency of visiting is not always consistent with the level of identified need. 
For some children, staff turnover has had a negative impact on children 
enjoying the consistency of a named, allocated worker who knows them well. 

Page 20



 

 

 15 

The quality of visits to children is too variable, and the wishes and feelings of 
children are poorly reflected in their case files.  

38. In a small minority of cases, individual work with children puts their 
experience at the heart of the decisions being made to safeguard them. 
However, in too many cases the experience of children is not always known. 
Individual and direct work with children is only evidenced in a very few cases. 
Case recording does not capture the purpose of visits to children, and the 
visits are often too adult-focused, not individualised when children are part of 
a brother or sister group, and do not reflect children’s cultural and diversity 
needs. Visits do not consistently record whether children are seen or whether 
they are seen alone.  

39. Child protection core group meeting are mostly ineffective. Information 
gathered at core groups is not routinely used to inform planning and improve 
children’s experiences. Meetings do not always occur within the required 
timescale. An absence of effective contingency planning, or the failure to 
implement plans within specified timescales, has led to drift and delay and, in 
some cases, delays in taking decisive action to protect children. 

40. Responses to young people at risk of homelessness are appropriately 
assessed by the 16-plus assessment team. There is a timely response to need, 
and interventions are adapted to changing circumstances. Young people are 
accommodated by the local authority in a timely manner when their 
circumstances warrant such an intervention. 

41. Children with disabilities receive a responsive service consistent with their 
level of need. The development of a birth to 25 service is still in its infancy, 
but it should reduce transition points for young people and their families. 

42. In most cases, the response to concerns about children by the emergency 
duty team is proportionate to the identified risk. However, contact with 
children out of hours is not routinely recorded on children’s case records. As a 
consequence, information-sharing between the out-of-hours service and 
daytime staff is poor and potentially puts children at risk of significant harm. 

43. Managers use well-developed, thorough and carefully evaluated systems to 
identify and track children who are missing from education (CME). The CME 
team has developed close working partnerships, which it uses well, with a 
wide range of agencies. These include health and social care professionals, 
education providers and the United Kingdom Visas and Immigration Agency to 
locate children and their families when they go missing. 

44. The quality of practice provided for children who go missing or who are at risk 
of child sexual exploitation is not yet sufficiently robust for all children. Not all 
children who have had a ‘missing’ episode in the past six months in which a 
child sexual exploitation risk is identified have a completed risk assessment. 

Page 21



 

 

   
 

16 

Risk assessments are not routinely updated to inform better safety planning 
for children. 

45. Completing return home interviews after a period of being missing is an 
improving picture. However, the number of completed return home interviews 
still remains too low. Local authority data indicates that only 41% of children 
reported as missing in December 2016 had a return home interview. This 
means that important details about what happens when children go missing 
are not being captured quickly enough to inform planning and support for 
children at risk. Where return interviews are held, in most cases, the quality of 
information and analysis is poor. This limits the opportunities to reduce further 
missing episodes. (Recommendation)  

46. Multi-agency risk assessment conferences and multi-agency public protection 
arrangements are satisfactory, with appropriate multi-agency attendance. The 
safety needs of children are appropriately considered at these meetings. 

47. Private fostering arrangements are mostly well identified and understood 
across the partnership. Awareness raising in the wider community is more 
limited. Some work with local schools and language schools has taken place, 
but this is in its infancy and is not sufficiently robust. The timeliness of visits 
to children who are privately fostered is variable, as is the quality of 
assessments. 

48. Allegations against adults who work or volunteer with children are treated 
seriously. Tracking and information-sharing processes are in place. Allegations 
meetings are held, with appropriate attendees, and result in a proportionate 
response and relevant actions being identified. 

  

Page 22



 

 

 17 

The experiences and progress of 
children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Requires improvement  

Summary 

Children looked after in Gloucestershire do not receive a consistently good service. 
A legacy of poor practice, a weak stepping-up service for children who require care 
following a child in need or child protection plan and increasing numbers of 
children looked after are challenges for the local authority.  
 
There are delays in issuing care proceedings, and the pre-proceedings process is 
insufficiently robust and timely. Some children wait too long to be looked after 
and, as a consequence, they are left for far too long in risky situations. Of the 
children most recently looked after, the majority have come into care in an 
unplanned way, despite them and their families being known to the local authority. 
 
Children are visited frequently by their social workers, and many receive a child-
centred and sensitive service by workers who know them well. For some children, 
having too many changes of social worker has had an impact on their ability to 
build a meaningful relationship with someone who knows them well. Children do 
have timely care plans and reviews, but these are not consistently child-focused 
and do not result in improved outcomes for all children. The risks associated with 
children going missing from care or at risk of child sexual exploitation are known 
and considered, but the response is inconsistent and insufficiently thorough for 
each child.  
 
Permanency planning is variable, with some children not having this considered at 
the earliest possible stage. However, many children do have good outcomes and 
live in long-term secure and stable placements.  
 
Life-story work is of a high quality, but is not always available in a timely way. 
Long-term placement stability is good, including for children placed out of the 
authority. Short-term placement stability is improving and this needs to have 
continued focus, particularly for older adolescents. The fostering service is a 
strength, and is managed effectively with well-trained and supported foster carers. 
Adoption is a particular strength, with some innovative practice supporting high 
numbers of children being placed in permanent placements and adoption being 
secured for a wide range of children.  
 
The Children in Care Council is influential and well supported to participate in a 
wide range of activities that improve services for children looked after and across 
the council.  
 
Services for care leavers require improvement. Pathway planning and the 
frequency of keeping in touch with all young people are areas for improvement. 

Page 23



 

 

   
 

18 

 
Inspection findings 

49. In order to improve the experience and outcomes of children looked after, the 
local authority has reorganised services for children looked after. The local 
authority has recognised the need to address a legacy of poor practice in a 
number of areas, namely frequent, or inappropriate, use of section 20, poor-
quality pre-proceedings and court work, poor early permanency planning, 
poor short-term placement stability and an absence of challenge from the 
independent reviewing officers (IROs). The actions to address all these 
concerns are starting to have an impact and real benefit for children, with 
work by practitioners being of a significantly better quality in the past two to 
three months. This has not yet reached a level where all work is consistently 
good for all children looked after.  

50. The additional investment in a new head of service for permanence, already in 
post, a new additional placement team from April 2017, two additional full-
time IROs and a new case-tracking manager to oversee court work indicates 
that senior leaders have understood the weaknesses in service provision. 
Although no child looked after was seen to be unsafe during the inspection, 
much of the work does not yet demonstrate a good, qualitative understanding 
of the comprehensive experience of each child.  

51. The number of children looked after in Gloucestershire is increasing, overall. 
All children looked after require that they are kept safe and that the threshold 
to care is appropriate. However, there is significant drift and delay in issuing 
care proceedings for some children, even when this is the agreed plan, and 
there are delays in following up actions from pre-proceedings work, leaving 
some children living in risky situations for far too long. An improvement plan 
to address delay is only showing an impact for a small number of children, 
and the local authority must continue actively and assertively to drive 
improvements in the timeliness, quality and impact of pre-proceedings and 
care proceedings work. The quality of the pre-proceedings letters seen by 
inspectors is good. (Recommendation) 

52. Currently, half of care proceedings take more than 26 weeks, with an average 
time of 31 weeks. The number of timely care proceedings has appropriately 
increased from 36% in March 2016 to 43% at the time of the inspection, 
ensuring that children are increasingly being better protected by a court order. 
The local authority has successfully reduced the number of children voluntarily 
accommodated under section 20 to 34%, and is working with local courts and 
the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass) to 
address a legacy of poor practice in this area. The recent implementation of a 
monthly meeting with Cafcass is assisting this development. 

53. Most children are visited regularly and seen alone by their social worker, who 
knows them well and understands their wishes. This has been affected by 
children experiencing too many changes of social worker. Assessments and 

Page 24



 

 

 19 

plans consistently contain sufficient detail of children’s circumstances, but vary 
in the quality of their recorded analysis, the children’s views or the day-to-day 
current lived experience of children. Most work meets some of these criteria, 
but not much of the work meets all. This level and style of practice were also 
seen in child permanence reports and recent court work, which were of an 
adequate quality yet could be improved by increased sensitivity, analysis and 
attention to individual detail. However, life-story work with children is of a 
high quality, although not consistently timely. The impact of support, 
supervision and guidance from frontline managers is not always evident in 
assisting social workers to improve their practice. (Recommendation) 

54. Children’s reviews routinely take place, and care plans are updated and on 
file. Care plans are not sufficiently focused on the impact of children’s early 
experiences. Consideration of permanency is not consistently considered at 
the earliest possible stage for each child. The local authority is aware of this, 
and it is a key priority in its current planning. A permanence summit in 2016, 
training by Cafcass and increased challenge by the IROs are starting to have 
some positive impact. The local authority recognises that the pace of 
improvement has been far too slow. As a result, a dedicated head of service 
for permanence has been appointed to ensure that the pace of improvement 
is swifter, and that consideration of permanence planning at the earliest 
possible stage results in consistent outcomes for all children more quickly. 
(Recommendation) 

55. The numbers of children who return to care are reducing and are at their 
lowest since the local authority began measuring this indicator, but are still 
too high at 11%. The local authority has some services that are successfully 
reducing the numbers of children returning to care. For example, the diversion 
placement support team is a strong, effective and well-respected service for 
children, with professionals working hard either to prevent children becoming 
looked after a second time or to ensure that they return home safely. The 
success of the reunification project has meant that 42 of 54 children have 
been able to return home to family and remain at home since April 2016. A 
further small number of young people were able to move from residential care 
to foster care, where they remain.  

56. An experienced designated nurse and designated consultant paediatrician for 
children looked after provide a good knowledge and skill base, ensuring 
effective multi-agency working in relation to children’s health needs. An 
annual conference, workshops and training support practice development. The 
health needs of the 28 unaccompanied asylum seekers who are looked after 
are met through the voluntary sector’s provision of ‘drop-in cafes’, offering 
translation and befriending services. All of the health needs for children looked 
after, including initial and review health assessments, are now coordinated by 
three doctors’ surgeries, overseen by the designated nurse and designated 
doctor, providing a more consistent overview of children’s health needs.  

Page 25



 

 

   
 

20 

57. Some innovative practice is underway, including support regarding mental 
health concerns. The ‘Teens in crisis’ pilot, started in July 2016, offers an 
online counselling service for young people. This was championed by the 
‘young ambassadors’ who spoke at the scrutiny panel in support of the idea. 
To date, 78 young people have accessed 260 sessions, with a waiting time of 
under a week, and an early evaluation is showing a positive impact on 
improving the emotional resilience of children.  

58. Schools and designated teachers prioritise the needs of children looked after, 
including those children who live out of the area. Effective strategies are used 
to protect children from discrimination and bullying. However, only 75% of 
children looked after currently attend good or better schools. Children in 
underperforming schools receive additional direct support and monitoring by 
staff from the virtual school, although the effectiveness of this strategy has 
not been evaluated. 

59. Virtual school staff are sufficiently resourced to oversee and support all 
children looked after. The virtual school has introduced ‘Praise to progress’ 
programmes, which recognise and reward the achievements of children, 
teachers and foster carers. Celebration evenings and individual children 
receiving handwritten cards from senior managers to recognise their 
attendance at school are valued and appreciated by all concerned.  

60. The virtual school team works very closely and productively with school staff, 
and increasingly foster carers, providing training, practical support and advice 
that promote learning for children looked after. All school staff interviewed by 
inspectors were emphatic that such training had helped to improve their 
classroom and pastoral support practice. Virtual school staff hold regular and 
much appreciated good practice sessions for schools’ designated teachers, 
and the virtual school is a trusted and valued partner. School attendance is 
monitored. However, strategies to improve attendance have not yet had a 
positive impact on children from Year 11 onwards.  

61. The impact of the virtual school’s intervention and support strategies is 
unclear, not least because progress data is unreliable. While the pupil 
premium is distributed efficiently to schools, its use is not measured 
meaningfully by schools or the virtual school, and overall it has had limited 
quantifiable impact. Virtual school managers recognise that just under half of 
the personal education plans (PEPs) produced for each child need some 
improvement, based only on the numbers of completed PEPs, not on the 
impact of intervention and support strategies. Most of the targets set in PEPs 
are neither specific nor measurable. The attainment of qualifications by 
children looked after is too low. Only a small minority of children looked after 
gain good GCSE qualifications at A* to C including English and mathematics. 
Overall, there is no evidence of sustained improvement in academic outcomes 
or progress over the past three years. (Recommendation) 

Page 26



 

 

 21 

62. No children looked after have been permanently excluded from school during 
the past three years. The level of fixed-term exclusions, at 15%, while 
reducing, is still too high. This has recently been identified as a cause for 
concern and the local authority needs to implement effective strategies quickly 
to reduce it. Four providers of alternative school provision operate across the 
county, and the attainment of qualifications in alternative provision is 
extremely low for children looked after. The proportion of children returning 
from alternative provision is very high in mainstream primary schools, but is 
only around 87% in secondary education. A new managed transition scheme 
has been piloted to increase the sustainability of children’s return to secondary 
education. This is due to be rolled out in full in April 2017. 

63. The local authority maintains a thorough record of children who are electively 
home educated (EHE). The number of EHE children is high, currently 596. 
Although the local authority has developed initiatives with schools to try to 
reduce this number, the number of children becoming EHE has risen by 20% 
from last year.  

64. The fostering service is managed effectively, and is a strength in the 
organisation and continues to improve, and foster carers are well trained and 
supported. A busy fostering panel is appropriately chaired by an experienced 
independent chairperson. Foster carers understand delegated authority and 
are happy with the support that they receive. Although they do not 
consistently receive all information on children at the time when a child is 
placed with them, they generally consider that the service for children is 
improving overall, and feel valued and appreciated by the local authority. Two 
foster carers helpfully sit as representatives on the corporate parenting panel. 

65. Social workers in the fostering service are knowledgeable. Assessments of 
carers, statutory checks and support for carers are generally of a good quality, 
and foster carer agreements, visits and foster carer training are all up to date 
and clearly recorded on the foster carer’s file. The fostering service helpfully 
uses an independent person to undertake a standards of care investigation, 
offering independent scrutiny of assessments of foster carers. Annual reviews 
of foster carers are undertaken on time.  

66. The local authority has had some challenges to ensure that all children receive 
good short-term placement stability and that there is sufficient placement 
choice available. This is despite the fostering team exceeding its in-year 
recruitment target and the helpful practice of conducting regular stability 
meetings for vulnerable placements. Placement initiatives, such as an extra 
payment to carers to be on the out-of-hours list for children over the age of 
12, and the new head of permanence show current solutions to some complex 
issues for the local authority.  

67. The use of family and friends is appropriately considered, but timeliness needs 
to improve. The majority of regulation 24 assessments require an extension to 

Page 27



 

 

   
 

22 

the time taken for the assessment to be completed, although this is carefully 
overseen and monitored through the fostering panel process. 

68. Despite these challenges, the local authority is able to ensure that the vast 
majority of children live within the county (512 of the 604 children looked 
after are placed within Gloucestershire) and to offer a high level of placement 
support to children placed out of the area. One residential manager described 
the social worker as ‘dedicated to the child and consistently available’, and 
that it had been one of the best placement moves to the home that she had 
experienced. Children with disabilities have access to a well-run short-break 
service. 

69. The local authority has recently implemented a dedicated IRO team for 
children looked after. More than 100 children chair their own reviews in 
Gloucestershire, with some receiving a certificate for their chairing skills. Since 
July 2016, the IRO team has raised 120 challenges and escalations, showing 
an increasing awareness and confidence in the process. For example, initially 
many were about electronic records not being up to date, but more recently 
the concerns raised include delays in permanence planning, children being 
vulnerable in their placements and children missing from care where no action 
is taken to safeguard them. The impact of these challenges varies and there is 
still a considerable amount of work to do to maximise the impact and 
consistently to listen to and respect the input of this skilled and stable group 
within the service. (Recommendation)  

70. Children who are missing or at risk of child sexual exploitation are known to 
the local authority, and some action is taken to consider the risk that they are 
exposed to. However, the response is frequently reactive and the impact is 
variable. Risk has reduced for some children due to the security and stability 
of their placement. For other children, there is an inconsistent completion of 
return home interviews, and these do not always contain sufficient 
information to reduce the likelihood of going missing again. Trigger plans are 
completed and on file, and do contain useful background information, but 
overall there needs to be a greater focus on preventative work with each child 
to ensure that children are consistently kept safe. (Recommendation) 

71. Long-term placement stability for children looked after is an area of strength 
in the local authority (73% at December 2016). Many children, including large 
groups of brothers and sisters living together, are safe and secure, with a 
sense of belonging. This includes long-term fostering, where there have been 
20 matches this year, and good-quality special guardianship and adoption 
work. Children receive high-quality life-story work, but there are delays for 
some children in being offered this service. (Recommendation) 

72. A group of 15 ‘ambassadors’, each with care experience, are employed by the 
local authority, and are highly influential and work well in partnership to 
improve services for children. They describe themselves as ‘sweeping through 
the council like a storm’. They are an impressive and dynamic presence in the 

Page 28



 

 

 23 

council, and participate in a wide range of activities. They are involved in 
training and staff recruitment, as well as attendance at the corporate 
parenting and scrutiny panel. They offer more than the sum total of the 
activities and events by enhancing the emotional understanding of the 
organisation, by each having a dedicated focus and by being supported to 
share their individual experiences at the highest corporate level to staff, 
schools and the Local Safeguarding Children Board, and at external events. 

 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it is good 

 
73. Securing permanent families for children who need adoption is a key priority 

and strength in Gloucestershire. Adoption is routinely considered for all 
children if they are unable to live permanently with their birth family. Most 
children who need permanence have achieved this through adoption and, in 
particular, a high number of brothers and sisters are adopted together. In the 
12 months prior to the inspection, 78 children had a decision to adopt. Of 
these, 54 were living at their adoptive home and 26 of them have an adoption 
order. 

74. Most children with a plan for adoption find homes quickly, and move 
purposefully and at a pace suitable for them and their adopters. The time 
between the courts granting authority to place and matching to an adoptive 
family is 104 days in Gloucestershire, 17 days below the government 
threshold of 121 days. This high performance is as a direct result of the 
tenacity of the service in considering and achieving early permanence for 
adoption through ‘foster to adopt’ wherever possible. However, in the 12 
months prior to inspection, this timescale had risen to 206 days, wholly due to 
the local authority’s robust commitment to placing brothers and sisters 
together. 

75. Early permanence to adoption is highly effective. The ethos and spirit of 
achieving early permanence permeates all the work in the adoption team. 
Adopters are well supported, and are asked to consider ‘opting out’ of ‘foster 
to adopt’ rather than ‘opting in’ during the assessment process. The benefits 
and risks of early permanence through adoption are thoroughly explored at 
the earliest point in the assessment. Experienced early permanent adopters 
influence and deliver effective support and training that result in more 
prospective adopters being willing to work with the uncertainty of committing 
to a child prior to placement order. 

76. Since 2011, there have been 42 early permanence to adoptions, and in the 
past 12 months 22 adoption orders have been secured, ensuring that children 
live with their adoptive parents from the earliest possible stage of the process. 
All children making the transition to adoption did so from foster care, and this 
is managed in a sensitive and considered way, minimising the impact on 

Page 29



 

 

   
 

24 

children, foster carers and adopters. The adoption panel is robust and 
effective. Adopters are dual approved at panel as both ‘suitable to adopt’ and 
‘suitable for early permanence placement’. The panel regularly reviews 
arrangements and continues to assess applicants’ suitability and motivation 
while awaiting an appropriate match. Since 2011, five early permanence 
matches have not led to adoption and, in all cases, children were either 
appropriately returned to birth family members or achieved adoption through 
other successful matches. In three of the five cases, adopters have 
subsequently experienced a successful early permanence match and in two 
cases have adopted. 

77. A well-established and mature adoption service benefits from knowledgeable 
and passionate managers and workers with a wide range of experience and 
skills. Practitioners in the service have extensive experience, and bring a wide 
range of skills and commitment, underpinned by effective and competent 
managers who have established a high standard of expectations and practice. 
This has resulted in Gloucestershire, as an adoption agency, having a good 
reputation locally and regionally. This helps to attract a high volume of 
enquiries from prospective adopters, and many return to the agency when 
they wish to consider adopting another child. All the adopters spoken to had 
experienced a very positive reception and spoke highly of the support received 
during the assessment process, when they were matched and after they had 
adopted their child.  

78. A comprehensive matching risk assessment, which includes foster carers, 
adopters and relevant social workers, rigorously assesses the strengths and 
vulnerabilities of a potential placement as a response to an identified link 
between a child and adopter. This assessment informs a robust support plan 
effectively and is a key contributory factor in securing the high numbers of 
early permanence placements. Support plans comprehensively identify all 
aspects of additional resource in the short, medium and long term. These 
include therapeutic direct work with children, counselling and individual 
psychological support, according to assessed need. Adopters also access 
responsive therapeutic services to help them to support the work undertaken 
with their child. 

79. Gloucestershire piloted the implementation of the adoption support fund in 
2014–15, and has an established and effective process in place, with 137 
successful applications to date. Support after adoption plans are 
comprehensive, and include extensive and resourceful packages. This enables 
children to form secure attachments and receive therapeutic support to help 
them to understand their early childhood experiences. The local authority 
match funds individual children to ensure the continuation of complex 
packages of support that include individual and enduring therapeutic support. 
This enables brothers and sisters, and children with complex needs, to achieve 
security and permanence through adoption, and it minimises disruptions. 
There were only two between April 2015 and March 2016.   

Page 30



 

 

 25 

80. Adopters are assessed and approved in an appropriate way that reflects their 
circumstances and experience, and this means that, for some, the process 
takes longer than four months at stage two. All adopters spoken to value the 
pace of the assessment and consider that this has enabled them to feel fully 
prepared for the realities of adoption. Adopters are prepared and trained to a 
high standard, and speak positively about the quality of communication, 
engagement, training and support provided by the agency. For those waiting 
for a suitable match, there are workshops and regular reviews to support 
continued engagement in the process. The most recent targeted recruitment 
activity and support have a focus on finding families for brothers and sisters to 
live together and, as a result, the number of prospective adopters reduced 
from 78 to 40 families by March 2016. However, this reflects the family-
finding profile of children who are waiting to find permanent families.  

81. An experienced adoption panel adviser provides rigorous oversight of the 
quality of work to the panel. The role of agency decision-maker, undertaken 
by three heads of service supported by good administration, provides a timely, 
flexible and responsive service that manages the range of adoption work 
effectively.  

82. The adoption panel chair brings extensive knowledge of adoption and leads a 
suitably experienced panel effectively, including adopters and adopted adults, 
to bring a real perspective on the experience of children. The panel chair 
guides the panel to focus on strengths of the applicants, which puts applicants 
at their ease and enables full engagement in the panel process.  

83. The panel promotes good practice and gives regular feedback to the agency 
about the quality of work, to inform and lead to improved practice. In 
particular, prospective adopter reports are insightful, analytical and strong in 
areas of diversity and identity, in particular single adopters and same-sex 
couples. Matching reports now give a real sense of why children are suitable 
to live with particular adopters and how they will meet the unique needs of 
children, now and in the future. Child permanence reports are not yet 
consistently of good quality. Although most seen at this inspection show 
sufficient understanding of the case, they lack detail, sensitivity and an 
inclusion of children's views. 

84. Life-story work is of high quality. Those seen are detailed, age-appropriate 
and sensitively considered, and the use of pictorial ‘toy story-books’, using 
cartoon characters, enables younger children to have some understanding of 
their birth histories and supports adopters to have early conversations with 
children. Therapeutic life-story work using art and crafts is effective, and 
increasingly helps older children to explore why they are not able to live with 
their birth family, and helps them to make sense of, and recover from, early 
childhood trauma. 

 

Page 31



 

 

   
 

26 

The graded judgement about the experience and progress of care leavers 
is that it requires improvement 

 
85. The overall quality and effectiveness of social workers’ interventions with care 

leavers are variable. However, the practical help and emotional support 
provided enable most care leavers to develop sufficient independence skills 
and to build emotional resilience in preparing for adulthood. While most care 
leavers spoken to by inspectors now report having stable and meaningful 
relationships with their social workers or personal advisers, the majority of 
care leavers have experienced significant changes to their allocated worker 
over the past year. Some care leavers related how their social worker 
regularly went ‘above and beyond’ what they expected of them or ‘had never 
given up’ finding ways to support them to turn their life around.  

86. The care leaver team, currently based across three accessible sites, enables 
care leavers to access support at a local level for information, advice and 
social events. Dedicated youth support workers work closely with the care 
leaver team, providing specialist support for mental health, sexual health, and 
pregnancy and parenthood concerns. An active care leavers forum provides an 
effective voice for care leavers to fully contribute to further improvements to 
their service.  

87. Specialist transformational support provided by social workers to care leavers 
is well targeted and effective. For example, young parent care leavers are 
accommodated in dedicated cluster units in Gloucestershire, and these are 
providing high-quality, on-site parenting support. Additionally, care leavers 
receive good-quality responses and prompt interventions from social workers 
in circumstances when risk is identified. For example, responses to incidents 
of domestic violence or sexual abuse result in timely, effective risk 
assessments and joint working with relevant agencies to develop robust plans 
to protect the young person. This work has been further reinforced through 
learning from a recently published local serious case review, and 
arrangements to support young people in violent relationships have been 
strengthened as a result.  

88. The local authority is in touch with the majority of its care leavers. However, 
6% of care leavers had not been contacted by their social worker in the past 
six months or longer. Insufficient arrangements for this cohort of young 
people and incomplete case records do not demonstrate sustained efforts by 
social workers to engage with each young person. These weaknesses and the 
impact on the young person are not sufficiently identified or challenged by 
managers, and this has left some care leavers potentially vulnerable and 
unsupported. (Recommendation) 

89. The quality and timeliness of pathway plans are variable. While pathway plans 
record essential information, most plans are not sufficiently aspirational and 

Page 32



 

 

 27 

do not reflect a comprehensive, well-rounded plan for each individual. A high 
number of pathway plans are completed without sufficient consideration of 
the young person’s views or their participation. As a result, pathway plans are 
not valued by care leavers. While some good examples were seen by 
inspectors, most did not sufficiently consider the challenges experienced by 
the young person, for example in relation to drug or alcohol use or offending 
behaviour. (Recommendation) 

90. Social workers provide prompt financial support for care leavers to access 
specialists, including therapeutic services, doctors, opticians and dentists, as 
and when required. Care leavers now receive ‘health passports’, and are 
aware of these and how to access their full health history. However, not 
enough care leavers have received a recent health assessment in the past 12 
months. Case records do not sufficiently reflect attempts to encourage the 
young people to engage in these health assessments and, as a result, young 
people have not had access to timely healthcare and are not being actively 
encouraged to lead a healthy lifestyle.  

91. Care leavers are well supported to gain a national insurance number, their 
original or copy birth certificate and a passport. Arrangements to help care 
leavers to learn basic life skills, such as budgeting and cooking, are not yet 
consistently enabling all care leavers to feel confident in these areas. Care 
leavers’ attendance at the few life-skills sessions offered by the care leaver 
team has been low, despite sustained efforts by the team to encourage their 
involvement. Of care leavers over 21 years of age, 65% are now in education, 
training or employment and this reflects a determination to encourage second 
chance learning. Care leavers have a good idea of their entitlements, but the 
explanatory booklets are out of date. Care leavers are now contributing to the 
compiling of revised versions.  

92. Senior managers in the care leaver team routinely analyse performance data 
on care leavers using a range of appropriate and informative key indicators. 
While this has led to some improvements across the service, the focus has not 
been sufficiently consistent. The quantitative and qualitative data on those 
who are in education, training or employment reflects that, while the local 
authority is aware that high numbers of care leavers are not in education, 
employment or training, the strategies to reduce this cohort are not always 
effective. (Recommendation) 

93. Most care leavers do not achieve any qualifications, and only a very small 
minority attain good GCSEs, including English and mathematics. However, 33 
care leavers are currently on degree-level courses at various universities. Care 
leavers have access to post-16 personal, vocational and academic 
development opportunities, such as taught sessions in functional skills in 
English and mathematics at Levels 1 and 2, but only a few achieve a 
qualification in these subjects. The local authority has a ‘Work it Out’ project, 
which aims to offer a range of employment pathways for care leavers, While 

Page 33



 

 

   
 

28 

this has benefited some care leavers, the local authority recognises that there 
is developmental work needed in respect of paid employment options. 

94. Most care leavers are able to access a range of good-quality accommodation 
in Gloucestershire. A high proportion of care leavers live in suitable 
accommodation and 27 care leavers are ‘staying put’ with their foster carers. 
The local authority has a good range of accommodation available to match 
various planned stages in care leavers’ progression to independence, including 
transitional, supported, semi-independent, independent and temporary 
accommodation. Well-integrated and mostly effective arrangements are in 
place to allocate appropriate accommodation for care leavers. These include 
the effective START programme, which provides good support for young 
people preparing to become care leavers. Although feedback to the local 
authority by care leavers suggests most care leavers feel safe in their 
accommodation, not all care leavers spoken to by inspectors said that they felt 
safe in their accommodation or in Gloucestershire generally, and the reasons 
for this need to be explored further. (Recommendation) 

95. The local authority currently lacks sufficient short-term emergency 
accommodation. In the six months prior to the inspection, bed and breakfast 
accommodation had been used for six care leavers in an emergency or at the 
young person’s request. These arrangements are inappropriate, with 
insufficient systems to robustly monitor the safety and welfare of the young 
person. Risk assessments are not robustly completed or sufficiently recorded, 
and monitoring arrangements are not systematic. The local authority has 
identified that these arrangements require strengthening and is in the process 
of implementing new short-term accommodation commissioning 
arrangements. (Recommendation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

 

 29 

Leadership, management and 
governance 

Inadequate 

Summary 

The leadership, management and governance of children’s services in 
Gloucestershire are inadequate. Inspectors discovered significant discrepancies in 
some information provided to them by the senior leadership team, bringing into 
question the integrity of the leadership of children’s services. Senior managers do 
not provide an environment in which healthy challenge is evident and social work 
practice is allowed to flourish, and a high number of staff reported that they feel 
vulnerable, unsupported by senior managers and fearful of challenging or exposing 
poor practice.  
 
Senior leaders have not been swift enough to take effective action to address the 
widespread and serious failings in the services for children who need help and 
protection. The local authority has needed to take immediate action on too many 
cases identified at this inspection to ensure that children are safeguarded and, in 
some cases, to take protective action so that children are not suffering immediate 
harm. 
 
A lack of a robust system to ensure that actions from case audits are consistently 
completed results in continuing drift and delay for children. The cases audited 
during this inspection highlighted that most of those for children in need of help 
and protection are characterised by poor identification of risk, and weak and 
inconsistent management oversight.  
 
Stable managers in the fostering and adoption teams continue to support and 
develop stronger practice. Early permanence to adoption is highly effective in 
ensuring that children are placed at their adoptive home as early as possible.  
 
The local authority and its partners demonstrate a clear commitment to a strong 
partnership approach to commissioning, influenced by the views of young people, 
that is delivering locally determined and accessible services in neighbourhood 
areas, making maximum use of joint resources.  
 
Instability in the workforce is having a significant impact on the quality of practice. 
The turnover of social workers and managers is high. The majority of social 
workers have less than two years’ post-qualifying experience and, for too many, 
the caseloads are too high and include complex cases that require a good depth of 
knowledge and experience. Coupled with inconsistent, weak management 
oversight and poor supervision, this does not support effective or high-quality help 
for children and families. 
 

Page 35



 

 

   
 

30 

The focus on work to establish and support the work of the ‘young ambassadors’, 
championed by the corporate parenting board, is a good example of how young 
people are influential in shaping services. 

 
 
Inspection findings 
 
96. The experiences and progress for children in need of help and protection are 

inadequate. Services have deteriorated significantly since the last inspection in 
2012. While senior managers can demonstrate that they know what needs to 
change, they have not been successful in delivering the changes quickly 
enough to address the deficits in frontline operational practice. Where they 
have identified weak practice and poor management oversight, the measures 
to make improvements have lacked rigour and pace. Consequently, a high 
number of cases referred to the local authority included cases where action 
was required either fully to understand the risks that children were exposed to 
or to respond appropriately to levels of risks for children. Too many children 
have not had their needs and risks recognised or have remained in situations 
of escalating and actual risk of significant harm for too long. 

97. Senior leaders have not demonstrated sufficient understanding of the extent 
of the widespread and serious failures for children in need of help and 
protection, until this inspection. In all cases referred by inspectors, the local 
authority agreed with their findings. These included the need to take 
immediate safeguarding actions for compliance with child protection 
procedures, to progress cases through the legal framework, to reduce delays 
in taking action and to give a robust response to children at risk of sexual 
exploitation and children who go missing. 

98. The director of commissioning (children and families) and the senior 
leadership team articulate a strong determination and commitment to improve 
services for children. However, an unprecedented number of staff 
anonymously raised concerns with the inspectors about the culture of bullying 
and blame that is prevalent in children’s social care. Senior managers have 
not been able to support an environment in which healthy challenge is 
consistently evident and social work practice is allowed to flourish.  

99. A review of safeguarding and audit arrangements was commissioned by the 
director in January 2017. This report highlighted that a lack of a centrally 
driven system prevented the local authority from having effective oversight of 
the impact of audit outcomes. The lack of a robust system to ensure that the 
actions from audits are consistently completed results in continuing drift and 
delay for children. Recent work to improve the robustness of audits is having 
some positive impact, as seen in the quality of the 20 cases identified for audit 
during this inspection. However, these highlighted that, for children in need of 
help and protection, most cases are characterised by poor identification of 
risk, delays in progressing assessments and plans, and weak management 
oversight. Senior managers have not demonstrated that they fully understand 

Page 36



 

 

 31 

the significance of the cumulative impact of poor-quality practice for this 
group of children. (Recommendation)  

100. An external assessment of the independent review service in April 2016 
highlighted considerable weaknesses in the quality of assessments, the quality 
and consistency of plans, and the absence of children’s wishes and feelings to 
inform decisions. These features have been evident in this inspection. While 
the establishment of dedicated independent reviewing officers and conference 
chairs has been implemented, the lack of an established escalation process for 
child protection chairs has meant that, when concerns have been raised about 
the quality of practice and decision-making, there is little evidence of robust 
action from senior managers.  

101. Frontline management oversight of practice is inconsistent and mostly poor in 
child protection services, and the process of auditing the quality of practice is 
not systematic or established enough to give an accurate understanding of the 
quality of frontline practice. Senior managers do not have a strong and 
confident assessment of the impact and experiences of children who need 
help and protection.  

102. Frontline management for children looked after is also a weaker area of 
practice, although the better able and more experienced middle managers 
have driven improvements for children looked after, recognising where there 
is still more work to do. Stable and competent managers in the fostering and 
adoption teams continue to support and develop strong practice.  

103. The local authority’s and its partners’ response to prioritisation and strategic 
oversight of child sexual exploitation is not yet leading to consistently effective 
practice for children at risk and those who go missing. Operational social work 
practice to understand the risks of child sexual exploitation is too often weak. 
Social workers and managers lack an understanding of the impact of child 
sexual exploitation and for those who go missing, and are not consistently 
using assessments to identify risk to inform plans to improve outcomes for 
these groups of children. Information from return home interviews following 
children going missing is not sufficiently detailed or consistently completed to 
enable a good understanding of the motivation behind ‘missing’ episodes for 
individual children. The lack of comprehensive aggregated information at a 
strategic level means that the local authority and partners do not always know 
the children who are most at risk in order to prioritise appropriate and 
effective action. (Recommendation) 

104. The use of performance management data to drive improvements in key 
areas of practice is not consistently accurate, systematic or established across 
all practice areas or localities. Performance in significant areas, such as the 
length of time that children are on child protection plans, the number of 
children with second and subsequent plans and the timeliness of assessments, 
is not analysed sufficiently at a strategic level to understand impact or to 
inform and monitor improvements. Where the data focuses on cause and 

Page 37



 

 

   
 

32 

effect, this is resulting in a better understanding of the issues and more 
effective action to address practice, for example the improved rates of young 
people offending and performance in the over 11s’ service. (Recommendation) 

105. Weekly performance reports are starting to inform managers about the 
strengths and performance challenges for individual teams and practitioners. 
However, this is not yet resulting in improved practice in some key areas. The 
performance data available highlights clear anomalies and practice differences 
between teams that do not yet trigger sufficient analysis by senior managers 
to prioritise improvements in either the practice areas or the geographical 
localities. The local authority does not yet have a performance forum to 
consider learning across the council that supports improved practice. Although 
developed, and with implementation imminent, this is a missed opportunity to 
pull together learning from the staff survey, complaints, serious case reviews 
and audits, and to demonstrate a transparent and open culture to learning 
and sharing of good practice.  

106. There is a clear commitment to a strong partnership approach to 
commissioning in Gloucestershire that maximises the impact of collective 
resources to delivering accessible services based on a clear understanding of 
local need. Commissioning decisions are influenced by young people, for 
example ‘Future in mind’, that led to the establishment of the ‘On your mind 
Gloucestershire’ website. This provides accessible, confidential advice and 
support for young people who have emotional and mental health concerns, 
and includes a pilot online counselling service that is valued by young people. 
The new IRIS project, although not yet operational, is ambitious in addressing 
the safety and stability of placements for older adolescents with highly 
complex needs, and is a good example of effective joint commissioning. 

107. Cross-party overview and scrutiny arrangements focus on key issues of 
performance, for example the recruitment and retention of staff, and the 
views of the workforce on how to improve practice. While the chief executive 
and lead member both have an awareness of key strengths and weaknesses 
across children’s services, the severity of the failings in some key areas of the 
service had not been articulated to them sufficiently well by senior managers. 
Political and senior leaders have recognised the need and taken action to 
increase resources in children’s social care, demonstrating commitment to 
improving the lives of children in Gloucestershire, with recent significant 
financial resources being made available to increase the number of frontline 
social workers.  

108. Instability in the workforce is having a significant effect on the quality of 
practice. The current turnover of social workers and managers, although 
comparable with other local areas, is high, and this means that children are 
not able to form positive and lasting relationships with social workers. The 
majority of social workers have less than two years’ post-qualifying experience 
and, for too many, particularly those in their assessed and supported year in 
employment, the caseloads are too high and include complex cases that 

Page 38



 

 

 33 

require a good depth of knowledge and experience. Coupled with inconsistent 
and weak management oversight, this does not support effective and high-
quality social work practice. The quality of training provided to staff is 
improving. However, the evaluation of training is poor and the impact of 
training is not assessed effectively by managers through supervision and case 
audit activity. 

109. The supervision of workers and managers, while taking place, does not 
sufficiently demonstrate clear guidance to workers to address the deficits in 
practice and performance, and does not provide clear expectations to 
complete and progress work in a timely way. Social workers’ and managers’ 
recording on case files is weak and is absent from too many children’s cases, 
meaning that it is not always possible to tell how critical decisions regarding 
children’s lives have been reached. Children’s wishes and feelings are not 
consistently recorded, and do not inform assessments and plans. 
(Recommendation) 

110. The focus on work to establish and support the work of the ‘ambassadors’, 
championed by the corporate parenting board, is a good example of how 
young people engage effectively and are influential in shaping services. The 
group of 17 young people are employed and are active participants in the 
corporate parenting board, scrutiny committee and commissioning 
arrangements. The impact of the work of the ‘young ambassadors’ is wide 
ranging, enabling key messages and their experiences to be shared effectively 
across the service, as well as contributing in a meaningful way to service 
development. 

 
 

Page 39



 

 

   
 

34 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board requires improvement 

 

Executive summary 

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board (GSCB) requires improvement. 
While it fulfils its statutory responsibilities and there is strong commitment to the 
work of the board from key statutory agencies, there are gaps in the board’s 
activities and monitoring of frontline practice in children’s services that limit its 
effectiveness. 
 
The board is appropriately constituted and is generally well attended by key 
partners, including lay members. The GSCB is financially sound, with partners 
supporting the work of the board proportionately. The board benefits from having 
a respected and experienced independent chair, and the work of the board is well 
supported by an appropriately resourced and well-managed business unit. The 
chair of the GSCB is also a member of the children’s partnership and has built up 
effective working links with the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Safeguarding 
Adults Board. This enables him to influence the direction of work and priority 
setting, such as coordinated services for those affected by domestic abuse. 
However, work to develop strategies and associated toolkits to address neglect 
and child sexual exploitation has yet to be fully embedded or effective across the 
partnership.  
 
The board demonstrates open and candid challenge between board members, and 
this has been effective in some areas, for example in improving safeguarding 
practice within the multi-agency safeguarding hub. However, limited analysis and a 
lack of qualitative commentary on the board’s dataset inhibit its ability to monitor 
and understand the overall effectiveness of services. This compromises 
opportunities to challenge partner agencies where practice is poor. 
 
The board has developed a multi-agency audit programme that has considered 
services to disabled children and children at risk of sexual exploitation outside the 
local authority area. However, the audit programme needs to become further 
embedded and more sharply focused to provide assurance to the board that the 
services provided and work undertaken to keep children safe are consistently 
robust and effective across the county. The inclusion of young people on the board 
is generally a strength, although the participation of children and families in 
auditing activity requires development. 
 
The board has a comprehensive range of training events and e-learning courses 
that have increased the number of practitioners who have received training. The 
training events include lessons learned from serious case reviews, although the 
extensive range of messages emerging from this work has diluted the learning. 
Longitudinal evaluation of the impact of this training requires further development. 

Page 40



 

 

 35 

Recommendations 

 
111. Strengthen the range of performance information provided to the board to 

include relevant information from all partners and ensure that evaluative 
commentary is provided to improve services. 

112. Embed the multi-agency audit programme in order for the board to have 
greater assurance of the quality of frontline safeguarding practice.  

113. Strengthen the evaluation of training to ensure that it is robust and can 
evidence positive impact on outcomes for children and their families. 

114. Hold partners to account for evaluating the impact on practice of the learning 
from serious case reviews. 

115. Ensure that the annual report provides a rigorous assessment of the 
performance and effectiveness of local services.  

116. Ensure that the neglect strategy and associated toolkit is promoted across the 
county and its effectiveness measured to improve outcomes for children. 

 

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 

117. Gloucestershire Local Safeguarding Board (GSCB) meets its statutory duties 
and undertakes a broad range of work to safeguard children across the 
county. Governance arrangements between the GSCB and the local authority 
are well established. The independent chair is proactive and credible. He 
attends regular alignment meetings with the independent chair of the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board, the director of children’s services 
and the directors of adult social services. GSCB members express confidence 
in the independent chair, who is both skilled and knowledgeable in this area of 
work. 

118. The GSCB is also an equal partner of the Gloucestershire children’s 
partnership and the chair is a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB). The GSCB has strong links with the HWB. These arrangements ensure 
that safeguarding children is appropriately considered and the planning is 
aligned. For example, GSCB has ensured that the HWB domestic abuse 
commissioning strategy fits the board’s levels of intervention guidance. The 
GSCB currently operates eight sub-groups that are appropriately aligned to 
the GSCB’s key statutory responsibilities and priorities. Police, health and 
children’s social care are well represented on the sub-groups and the GSCB 
executive. 

119. Attendance at the board is generally good, although the board is reviewing its 
current structure to consider how it can progress its objectives most 
efficiently. There is commitment and engagement from attendees that has 

Page 41



 

 

   
 

36 

resulted in a greater ownership of safeguarding issues across the partnership. 
However, the board is not sufficiently informed about the quality of all 
frontline services and practice. Limited analysis through audits and a lack of 
qualitative commentary on the board’s dataset inhibit its ability to monitor and 
understand the overall effectiveness of services. This prevents opportunities 
for challenge to partner agencies when practice is poor.  

120. The board has a wide breadth of membership from all statutory partners. The 
level of seniority is appropriate to facilitate influence and improvement. The 
private and voluntary sectors are represented, and the board benefits from 
the active engagement and challenge by three lay members. Their work is a 
strength, ensuring, for example, that services for children with disabilities are 
kept in sharp focus. The board benefits from highly effective support and 
commitment from the business manager and the wider business unit. 

121. The GSCB quality assurance framework has included internal review and 
regional peer challenge. This incorporates a multi-agency audit schedule, 
serious case reviews and learning from an online pupil survey, as well as 
learning from the ‘ambassadors’ for vulnerable children and young people. It 
does not currently support the board to monitor all safeguarding activity 
effectively across the county. The board is aware of the limitations of the 
dataset and is beginning to ensure that the story behind the data is captured, 
as well as presenting data from a wider variety of sources. (Recommendation) 

122. The board demonstrates increasingly open and candid challenge between 
board members, and this has been effective in some areas, for example in 
improving awareness of the role of the multi-agency safeguarding hub. Formal 
challenges are recorded and monitored. Similarly, following emerging 
concerns regarding the consistency of early-help decision-making and support, 
the GSCB undertook through the quality assurance sub-group a ‘deep dive’ 
audit of early-help services. Although the audit provided assurance that a 
range of preventative work is happening in the county, it also found that it 
was not always effective for some families with complex needs. The findings 
were shared with the children’s partnership to inform the development and 
implementation of the early-help graduated pathway. 

123. The voice of the child is an area of strength within the work of the board. 
Engagement with the ‘ambassadors’ is innovative and influential, and they 
have been engaged effectively in contributing to the summary of the annual 
report, workshops presented during the safeguarding roadshows and the 
GSCB planning days. Recent developments to formalise their involvement are 
to be welcomed. 

124. Child sexual exploitation arrangements are coordinated and monitored 
through the child sexual exploitation and ‘missing’ sub-group, but this does 
not yet lead to improved practice for this vulnerable group of children. 
Awareness raising was supported by a successful conference delivered in 
collaboration with the office of the police and crime commissioner. It is of 

Page 42



 

 

 37 

note that the rate of referrals has increased significantly as the work of this 
group has evolved. The role of schools in preventing child sexual exploitation 
is included in the Gloucestershire child sexual exploitation strategy, and the 
workforce development sub-group has extended the current training offer 
from a half a day to a full training day. 

125. Robust processes are in place to consider and undertake serious case reviews. 
Serious case reviews are initiated where necessary and in line with statutory 
guidance. The board has commissioned six serious case reviews in the recent 
past, demonstrating innovation in developing a Gloucestershire model for this 
work. The associated findings and recommendations from reviews have 
presented some challenge to ensure that the learning is disseminated. Board 
members agree that issues of capacity have diluted the learning opportunities, 
and work is currently being undertaken to refine the learning into key themes. 

126. The progress of serious case reviews and the completion of subsequent multi-
agency recommendations are appropriately monitored and reported to the 
board. More work is required to ensure that individual agency actions are fully 
addressed and are improving outcomes for children. Reviews are published 
and GSCB oversees roadshow events and briefing sessions that are held to 
disseminate learning. These have proved to be popular and are evaluated as 
effective. The ‘ambassadors’ attend and speak at these events and facilitate 
workshops. However, the impact of learning from serious case reviews is not 
widely evident. For example, although a number of serious case reviews have 
found that more work is required to create a culture of interagency challenge, 
evidence of progress is limited. Despite much work in this area, there has 
been no significant increase in formal escalations. Frontline practitioners 
spoken to during this inspection were not always aware of the learning from 
serious case reviews. (Recommendation) 

127. Similarly, the need to improve the professional response to neglect is a key 
learning outcome from a number of serious case reviews. Having identified 
the lack of progress in this area, work has been undertaken to develop a 
neglect strategy and toolkit. The neglect strategy was launched in August 
2016 but the toolkit is yet to be disseminated. While the GSCB anticipates that 
this should result in a more consistent identification of neglect and lead to 
more effective help at an earlier stage, the guidance is yet to be disseminated. 
The pace of implementation has been too slow, with the consequence that 
some children are still left in neglectful circumstances for far too long. 
(Recommendation). 

128. The multi-agency quality assurance sub-group operates an annual cycle of 
audits that has included in the recent past consideration of services to children 
with disabilities, children in care and child sexual exploitation. Although the 
audit reports are completed satisfactorily and lead to recommendations and 
action plans, a sharper focus is required to assess and inform the monitoring 
of core child protection activity. (Recommendation) 

Page 43



 

 

   
 

38 

129. The education sub-group provides good opportunities, through well-attended 
forums, for raising concerns, disseminating information and sharing good 
practice between schools and GSCB partners. A safeguarding audit of schools, 
tailored to address the objectives of the board, achieved an excellent 100% 
rate of return. The work of this sub-group has also been highly effective in 
supporting work to raise awareness of child sexual exploitation. It has 
promoted the delivery of the play, ‘Chelsea’s choice’ to 45,000 secondary 
school pupils, and a play for younger children, ‘In the net’, has been 
successfully piloted and is now shown each year to Year 4 pupils in primary 
schools across Gloucestershire. 

130. The board supports and uses the south west child protection procedures, 
which have been localised where necessary and made subject to frequent 
review. The threshold document, known locally as the ‘Levels of Intervention’ 
guidance, has been revised to reflect changes to policy and the local delivery 
structure. The understanding of thresholds for children who require early help 
but do not meet the threshold for statutory intervention is more recently 
implemented and is not yet fully embedded.  

131. Policies and procedures are accessible through the GSCB website. This is an 
accessible and informative resource, with links to relevant good-quality 
information on a range of safeguarding issues. The board is well up on the 
opportunities to develop communication through social media. The use of 
electronic alerts and Twitter is increasingly providing opportunities for the 
board to raise awareness of key issues, for example to promote the more 
widespread use of the child sexual exploitation screening tool. 

132. The GSCB provides an appropriate range of multi-agency safeguarding 
training that reflects the priorities of the board. Demand for interagency 
courses is consistently high, and the board is maintaining good attendance 
figures across all courses. In 2014–15, GSCB ran 147 courses and trained 
2,922 delegates. During 2016, 167 courses were held and were attended by 
3,402 delegates, representing a significant increase. Training is responsive to 
changing need, as it captures learning from the GSCB’s own audits and 
serious case reviews for the current training programmes. 

133. All training is evaluated, but the low number of feedback responses on 
individuals’ practice three months after their training inhibits evaluation of its 
effectiveness to deliver safeguarding services. There is a Training Evaluation 
and Impact Framework in place, which clearly sets out the multi-agency 
training evaluation process. The chair acknowledges that more work is 
required in this area in order for the board to be confident about the impact of 
training in terms of quality of practice and improved outcomes for children. 
(Recommendation) 

134. The child death overview panel (CDOP) is well established, with membership 
from all key partners, and it carries out its functions effectively. CDOP reports 
regularly to the board and produces a well-written annual report on trends 

Page 44



 

 

 39 

and themes in child deaths. A review of all deaths has led to awareness-
raising activities, including the production of a leaflet regarding safer sleeping 
and the dangers of shaking infants. It is notable that Gloucestershire CDOP, 
through the national CDOP network-learning programme, disseminated 
learning to reduce the risk of aspiration when tube feeding children at night. 

135. The annual report 2015–16, while ambitious, is overly descriptive. Although it 
covers all appropriate areas, it does not present a rigorous and transparent 
analysis of safeguarding practice across the county to provide an assessment 
of the performance and effectiveness of local services. The summary 
document encapsulates well the key achievements and objectives. Local 
priorities are reflected in the business plan, with priorities linked to sub-group 
activities including the commissioning of audits and the planning of training. 
(Recommendation) 

 
 

 

  

Page 45



 

 

   
 

40 

 

Information about this inspection 

Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This also includes children and 
young people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and 
starting their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference adults make to the lives 
of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition, the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people who it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board under its power to combine reports 
in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The inspection team consisted of eight of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) and one 
regulatory inspector from Ofsted. 

The inspection team 

Lead inspector: Emmy Tomsett 

Deputy lead inspector: Marcie Taylor 

Team inspectors: Andy Whippey, Brenda McInerney, Sean Tarpey, Nick Crombie, 
Louise Hocking 

Additional inspector: Matthew Reed 

Regulatory inspector: Linda Bond 

Senior data analyst: Matthew King 

Quality assurance manager: Helen Cawston 

Page 46



 

 

 41 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance ‘Raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted’, which is available from Ofsted’s 
website: www.gov.uk/government/publications/complaints-about-ofsted. If you would like Ofsted to 
send you a copy of the guidance, please telephone 0300 123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 
achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 
all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children's social care, and inspects the Children and 
Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, further 
education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons and other 
secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects services for children looked 
after, safeguarding and child protection. 
If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 
telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 
the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 
The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 
This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted. 
Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 
updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 
 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 
Manchester 
M1 2WD 
T: 0300 123 4234 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 
E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
W: www.ofsted.gov.uk 
© Crown copyright 2016 

Page 47

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2016/17 Performance
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee

13th July 2017 

Purpose of the report

This summary report highlights performance issues and achievements arising in 2016/17 for Children’s Services. 

It draws on benchmarking data as well as the performance and risk information presented quarterly to the Committee through the performance 
scorecard. The quarter 04 2016/17 performance scorecard is attached to this report as supporting information for the Committee’s consideration. 

Officer Contact: Kelly Headley, Performance and Improvement Manager, Strategy and Challenge           
Report Sponsor: Alison Williams, Director of Children’s Services

Note: All changes in performance levels are shown as a percentage increase/decrease in order to apply a consistent unit of measure across the 
report as well as to show the significance of the change. 

P
age 49



2

Summary of key performance 

As reported throughout 2016/17, a number of key measures remain off target. These 
continue to relate to: 

 the issues affecting Social care workforces nationally and workforce development, 
in particular:

o a high number of newly qualified social workers 
o difficulty of recruitment and retention in this sector
o issues relating to quality and consistency of practice 

 and pressures on the system:
o rates of children requiring support, protection or care
o placement availability, particularly for children with complex needs, and 

stability (moves)
o children coming back into the system at the same level or an escalated level 

 these pressures have then also had an effect on timeliness resulting in significant 
drift and delay for children.  

There was an Ofsted inspection of our Children’s Social Care Service between 27th February–23rd March 2017. The final report was published in June 
2017 and will be reported on separately to this report. However, there is a serious and pressing need for continued focus on this area of the business in 
order to keep children safe and improve outcomes for our most vulnerable children and we are working closely with the DfE and Ofsted.

Benchmarking information for 2015/16 has recently been published for education providing us with a current picture of how we are performing 
compared with other similar authorities. Overall performance is good, however, for some groups of children there are significant concerns regarding the 
widening gap in attainment, increasing absence and exclusions and the high proportion not in education, employment or training. A number of work 
streams are currently being developed in response to reduced resources and the continued and widening outcomes gap for vulnerable and high needs 
children. Support will be targeted at these groups in order to more successfully impact issues for these children. The majority or work streams will be 
underway by Autumn and a full re-shaping of education will be completed by Christmas.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Below Target On Target Above Target

Indicators On, Above or Below Target - Quarter 4 
2016/17

P
age 50



3

Overall demand and pressures on the service

Front Door

22066

6007 5630

1461

26653

6841 7184

1783

Contacts Referrals Single Assessments Safeguaring 
Investigations

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

2015/16
2016/17

Front Door Demand into Safeguarding

The 0-19 year old population is projected to experience 
moderate growth over the next two decades. With 
numbers of children in the Social Care system already 
over and above population growth, level of demand on 
Social Care may continue to be impacted. Innovative 
and strong Early Help initiatives and partnership working 
will therefore be all the more vital in coming years. 

Projected Population Growth 2015-2039 - Gloucestershire

As has been reported throughout the year, there have been 
increased pressures visible across the system throughout 2016/17. 

There are more children and young people at most ‘stages’ of social 
care than can be accounted for by demographic growth; this is also 
seen nationally.

Work at the front door has diverted more demand away from Social 
Care in 2016/7 with 1.5% (3,753) less contacts moving through to 
referral as the result of stronger triage and appropriate sign-posting to 
the right level of support for children. 

However, there were a higher number of contacts than in 2015/16 
resulting in a greater number of children going on to receive 
assessments and safeguarding investigations despite this work. 

 
20.8%

 
13.9%

 
27.6%

 
22.0%

P
age 51



4

24.0 25.1 24.7 24.9 25.4 24.6
22.0

24.4 24.9

21.9 20.2

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

0

10

20

30

Gloucestershire Target Peer Group Linear (Gloucestershire)

Linear (Peer Group)

Percentage of referrals to social care that are re-referrals within 12 
months for the same reason

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Safeguarding 

 The number of children in need has increased by 19.3% from 2048 to 
2444 in 2015/16. 

 Children subject to protection plans is the only area where we have seen a 
decrease, with 457 children subject to a plan in March 2017 compared 
with 580 children in March 2016 (a reduction of 26.9%).

 However, we have still, as yet, failed to impact upon either the proportion 
of children being re-referred to us or those experiencing a second or 
subsequent protection plan. Both of the indicators have remained stuck 
throughout 2015/16 and 2016/17 with further concerns and risk to around 
a quarter of children who have previously been known to us or who have 
received some form of support or protection before. Work is being 
undertaken to strengthen assessment and planning to ensure that it 
clearly identifies and targets the key risks to children and includes clear 
actions for work with families to address these and to sustain change.

 While we have struggled to tackle the percentage of children returning to a 
protection plan for a second or subsequent time, the percentage of 
children returning to a plan within two years has decreased by 67.9% in 
2016/17 (from 18.3% to 10.9%). This would suggest that change is taking 
longer to break down or, that different issues and risks are emerging 
throughout later stages of childhood. This may indicate that further work 
with families is needed to develop tools that can be applied to a range of 
problems and behaviours to help them to better manage new issues for 
themselves as they arise.

 The number of children on protection plans for more than two years 
doubled in 2016/17 from 7 children to 14. This equates to 3.1% of all 
children on protection plans and places our performance in the third 
quartile. There is only one other authority in our peer group who performs 
more poorly in this area. All of these children have been reviewed in order 
to tackle drift and delay and appropriate actions are now being taken to 
either step down the cases or to escalate then via legal processes. We 
have also strengthened triggers within our systems in order to ensure that 
more detailed reviews are undertaken for children subject to protection 
plans for more than 9 months. 

24 25.3

29.2

23.8
25.9 26.5

22.9
25.2 26.4

20.4 19.1

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

0

10

20

30

Gloucestershire Target Peer Group Linear (Gloucestershire)

Linear (Target)

Percentage of children subject to a child protection plan for a 2nd or 
subsequent time

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

P
age 52



5

 Looked after Children and Children Leaving Care

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

42

44

46

48

50

52

500

550

600

650

Rate of Children in Care (per 10,000 population)
Linear (Rate of Children in Care (per 10,000 population))
Peer Group
Linear (Peer Group)
Number of Children in Care

Children in Care

Ra
te

N
um

be
r

18.7 19.3 20.1
21.9

19.8 18.9 18.6
16.7

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

0

10

20

30

Gloucestershire Target Linear (Gloucestershire)

Percentage of children admitted to care who have previously been in care 
(readmissions)

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

 At the end of March, 614 children were looked after in care; a growth of 
9.4% (53 children) compared with March 2016. This increase is at a 
steeper rate to that experienced by our peer group. 

 The number of children leaving care to return home to live with parents 
has increased by 37.7% since March 2015. 

 At the same time, children coming into care under a voluntary 
arrangement and children being readmitted to care have both 
decreased. The number of children in care under a voluntary 
arrangement has dropped by 23.5% since March 2015 due to focussed 
work in this area to reduce inappropriate use of this type of 
arrangement. and 12.0% respectively since March 2015. Readmissions 
to care have decreased by 31.1% in 2016/17 from 21.9% to 16.7%.

The number of children adopted and leaving care under a special 
guardianship order in 2016/17 were both consistent with 2015/16 
levels.

42.0

34.032.4

44.6

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

0

10

20

30

40

50

Children in Care under a Voluntary Arrangement
Children Leaving Care to return Home to Parents

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

  9.4%
 17.6%

 12.0%
 31.1%

 23.5%

 37.7%

P
age 53



6

90.3 88.2 86.8

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

50

60

70

80

90

100

Stability (Number of Placement Moves)

Stability (Number of Placement Moves) - Peer Group

Target

Stability of Looked After Children (Number of Moves)

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Looked after children - stability

Finding the right placement first time for looked after children has been 
impacted by the number of children in care overall, placing pressure on the 
availability of suitable placements, particularly for those children with the most 
complex needs. 

 While stability is improving, the number of children being affected by more 
than 3 placement moves is still much higher than it was 2 years ago (85 
children in March 2017 compared with 53 children in March 2015). 

In addition to the number of children affected by placement moves, there are 
two further key concerns:

1) The extent of the picture of instability that is beginning to emerge 
through performance reporting. Children experiencing more than 3 
placement moves have also had up a number of children in need plans 
and protection plans and have also been in care a number of previous 
times. In addition, the number of moves experienced reaches into 
double figures for some of these children.

2) The short time period within which children are moving between 
placements i.e. intense period of instability before a suitable placement 
is found, and the placement/accommodation type used. 

There are long-term initiatives being developed to support stability of 
placements for children. As a short-term measure, to ensure close scrutiny, 
management oversight and high support, the Resource Panel will be 
extending its remit and will review all placement moves for this group of 
children.

  The percentage of children experiencing long term stability once they are 
in a settled placement has steadily increased in 2016/17, up 11.8% 
compared with March 2016. Performance is also 5.9% above the peer 
group average.

65.4 65.5

73.1

M
ar

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

50

60

70

80

90

100

Stability (Length of Placement)

Stability (Length of Placement) - Peer Group

Target

Stability of Looked After Children (Length of Placement)

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

 4.0%
 1.6%

  11.8%

  11.6%

P
age 54



7

Performance of the service (timeliness) 

Completion of Single Assessments within 45 working days 
improved for the first time in two years in quarter 4. Assessments 
completed within 45 working days during February and March 
reached 83.4% and 84.5% respectively. 

However, there are still a number of assessments which have not 
been completed for a significant period of time resulting in delay 
and potential risk for these children. All of the children have been 
identified and team managers will be reviewing these cases with 
social workers to ensure that assessments are progressed, children 
are stepped down or cases closed as appropriate.

99.2

87.9 83.5
79.9 77.8 76.2 75.8 78.1

Jun-15 Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17
0

20

40

60

80

100

Assessments Completed Target

Continuous Assessments Completed within 45 Working Days

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Timeliness of child protection reviews had been steadily increasing 
over the 18 months from April 2015-September 2016. However, 
performance has dipped due to drops in reviews conducted within 
timescale in October, November, January and February. A further 
decline in timeliness has been seen during April and May 2017 with 
rolling year performance dropping to 85.6% at the end of May. 

Timeliness has been impacted by capacity issues, high demand, late 
requests for conferences and lack of efficiency around the duty 
system and business processes. A high number of conferences 
were also booked that then did not proceed which affected being 
able to service those conferences that did need to proceed in a 
timely way. The duty system has now been tightened up and 
capacity has been increased which should result in a swift 
improvement in performance. This will be closely monitored with the 
Children’s social care leadership team through the monthly 
performance reporting. 

86.5 88.6 91.3 91.7 92.0 92.4 91.6 89.9
85.6

Ju
n-

15

Se
p-

15

De
c-

15

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

De
c-

16

M
ar

-1
7

0

20

40

60

80

100

Reviews within Timescale Target

Child Protection Cases Reviewed within Timescale

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

P
age 55



8

Performance of the service (quality and outcomes)

Education and Skills

Gloucestershire has good schools, and educational performance in the majority of areas exceeds regional and national averages. Overall attainment 
for children throughout their school years is particularly strong, and 95.6% of the County’s schools are rated as Good or Outstanding by OFSTED. In 
addition, the percentage of 16-18 year olds not in Employment, Education or Training (NEET) has continued to reduce to a current low of 3.6% in 
line with the peer group average.

However, for some groups of vulnerable young people (disadvantaged, special educational needs, children in need and black pupils) attainment is 
much lower, particularly at GCSE level. Only 10.5% of children in need and 23.3% of children in care gained 5 A-Cs at GCSE (incl. English and 
Maths) compared with the overall attainment of Gloucestershire’s pupils at 66.1%. The gap between the attainment of vulnerable children and the 
overall performance of Gloucestershire’s children is much wider than in other similar Counties. 

Absence and exclusion rates (for 2014/15) had increased from previous years, particularly in relation to permanent exclusions and interim figures for 
2015/16 suggest this trend is continuing. The percentage of children in need classed as persistent absentees is significantly higher than in other 
Counties. 34.4% of children in need and 13.1% of children in care are missing more than 10% of school days each year. This is bottom quartile 
performance. 

In addition, the percentage of care leavers classed as NEET (not in 
education, employment or training) has increased (43.6% at the end of 
the 2015/16 academic year compared to 40.8% at the end of 2014/15) 
and is in the bottom quartile when compared with other areas. 

Improving the educational outcomes for vulnerable and high needs 
children is a key priority for us. There is a need to work with the whole 
education system: the DFE, regional schools, the Commissioner, multi-
academy trusts, academies and schools to address these issues. 
Activity will be appropriately targeted on these children with the 
greatest need.  

In terms of the overall school population, following a high birth rate a 
few years ago, there was increased pressure on primary school places 
in Gloucestershire in 2016. A similar pressure will occur on secondary 
school places in 2019.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

Population - age 4 Projected population - age 4 Population - age 11
Projected population - age 11

Projected Population

P
age 56



9

Empowerment and Feedback

The overall number of children’s social care complaints received in 2016-17 has dropped year on year over the past two years.

 The number of complaints upheld or partially upheld in 2016-17 is consistent with 2015/16 levels. However, due to the reduction in the number 
of complaints overall, the percentage upheld or partially upheld has increased slightly. The performance and complaints teams are working 
together to look at complaints handling and learning. 

The number of compliments received exceeded the number of complaints received over each of the past 3 years. 

The majority of complaints in 2016/17 were received related to the Workforce – Quality theme (176); a quarter of complaints under this theme were 
upheld. 27% of complaints about Drift and Delay were upheld (9 out of 33). Only 1 out of 48 complaints under the Accessibility of 
Information/Management of Expectations theme was upheld; this related to cost. 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
0

50

100

150

200

250

36.4% 35.7% 39.4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Complaints Received Complaints Resolved
Number complaints upheld Compliments
Linear (Complaints Received) Linear (Number complaints upheld)
% complaints upheld

Children's social care complaints and complimentsComplaint Themes

Workforce - Quality
Communication
Quality of service
Staff attitude

Drift and Delay Non delivery
Delay in decision/provision of service

Accessibility of information/ 
management of expectations

Discrimination
Cost
Eligibility
Unwelcome/disputed decision

91.0% 93.6% 94.2%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Child's Voice Target

Percentage of Children in Care who Communicated Their Views at Their 
Statutory Review

P
age 57



10

Finance

The number of children in a residential setting has remained 
consistent with 2015/16. However, due to the use of secure 
placements for some of these children the average cost of 
placements has been much higher this year. 

As forecast, due to the volume and complexity of children’s cases 
being managed throughout this financial year, the budget has 
overspent by 3.9% (£3,833 million).

£569 £593

£3,775

£4,281

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
£0

£500

£1,000

£1,500

£2,000

£2,500

£3,000

£3,500

£4,000

£4,500

Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
Average weekly cost of residential placements funded by Social Care

Average Weekly Cost of Foster Care Placements

Risk

 Based on performance and benchmarking data the risk relating to 
worsening educational outcomes and a widening gap for 
vulnerable children increased from ‘Moderate to ‘High’. Mitigating 
initiatives are underway which focus on these children with the 
greatest need. 

The two Children’s Social Care risks are currently being reviewed 
with a view to increasing risk levels. We are therefore reporting the 
position as at quarter 3 at this time. 

There were no new risks added to the strategic risk register in quarter 
4 2016/17.

Information on strategic risks is provided in the scorecard that 
accompanies this report.  

  5.9%

  13.4%

P
age 58



Children & Families Overview & Scrutiny Scorecard
Quarter 4 2016/17

The following scorecards are enclosed:

Prepared by the Performance & Improvement Team

Page no.
Key to Symbols 2
Population 3
Early Help 3
Assessment & Safeguarding 4
Children in Care 5
Workforce 6
Customer Voice 7
Schools and Education 8
Strategic Risk Register Summary 9

P
age 59

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,736,true,null,null,false,'','');


Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

YTD Year to date (Sum)

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

DoT Direction of Travel

Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4)

4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3)

3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2)

2 4 6 8 10

Rare

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Reporting Basis

Year to
Date

Performance
accumulated
over the year

Rolling
Year

Average
performance
over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance
measured once
a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance
this quarter

Snapshot Performance at
a particular
point in time

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the

Impact with the Likelihood of each
risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 60



Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

Gloucestershire Population 017 (ONS Mid Year Estimate) 122,417 122,734 123,086 124,799
The 017 population figure is used to calculate the rates per 10,000 for Children's social
care indicators.

Gloucestershire Population 1017 (ONS Mid Year Estimate) 55,874 55,186 55,062 54,892
The 1017 population figure is used to calculate the rate of first time entrants to the Youth
Justice system.

Gloucestershire Children & Young People Population

2012 2013 2014
2015
(Latest)

Comments

Early Help

Percentage of referrals to social care that have an open CAF Rolling Year 5.50 ? ?
Number of families engaged with the Families First Programme
(Phase 2)

Year to Date 660 1,600

Number of Child Sexual Exploitation referrals reported to Police Year to Date 264 422 524
Number of Domestic Abuse referrals reported to Police involving
children within the household

Year to Date 2,161 1,811 2,079

% of infants being breastfed at 68 weeks (breastfeeding prevalence) Rolling Year 49.1 % 27.7 % ?
% of infants for whom breastfeeding status is recorded
(breastfeeding coverage)

Latest
Quarter

58.0 % 54.2 % ?

Number of young people who are not in education, employment or
training (NEET)

Snapshot 533 459 459

% of young people who are not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

Snapshot 4.2 % 3.8 % 3.1 % 3.2 % 4.5 %

Rate of first time entrants to the Youth Justice system (per 100,000
of the 1017yr old population) in the previous 12months

Rolling Year 377 282 306 313
For the latest period reported by the YJB, October  December 2016,
Gloucestershire's rate is 306. This is less than Quarter 1 when the rate was
313. It is also less than the South West Region (341) and also England (334).

Total number of pregnant smokers that have acheived a successful 4
week quit

Year to Date 92 100 54 43 16

A new healthy lifestyles service (incl. stop smoking support)
began in Jan 17. Due to this change in provision it was agreed
with the old provider (GCS) that no targets would be set for Q3
given that their service would end in December 16. Service
users were still able to access the service but would be
transferred into the new provider if consent was provided.
Given this transitional period low numbers of people accessed
the service or transferred into the new provider hence the lower
than normal numbers for the Q3 period.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Quarters In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

Q2 (2014/15) Q2 (2015/16) Q2 (2016/17) Q1 (2016/17) Comments Q2 (2016/17)

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

Q3 (2014/15) Q3 (2015/16) Q3 (2016/17) Q2 (2016/17) Q1 (2016/17) Comments Q3(2016/17)

3

P
age 61

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col14')


Assessment & Safeguarding

Rate of referrals to social care per 10,000 U18
population

Rolling Year 426.0 492.5 438.1 553.4

(Peer group rate: 429.6 National rate: 532.2) This has remained largely the same during
the year 2016/7 with an increase of 50 per 10,000 children having a referral into
Children's Social Care during Quarter 4 which has resulted in a Social Worker assessment
and intervention. This is likely to be due to the changes to the Front Door service and
consistency of thresholds applied at the frontdoor.

Rate of Children in Need per 10,000 U18 population
(exc. Child Protection & Children in Care)

Snapshot 147.0 165.1 163.3 197.4 Peer group rate: 292.1 National rate: 337.7

Total number of disabled children receiving a service
with a personal budget

Snapshot 462 329 443 438

Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Snapshot ? 429 580 457

Number of children on Child Protection Plans for 2
years or more

Snapshot 12 4 7 14

All children on CP plans for 2 years or more have now been reviewed and appropriate
actions are now being taken to either step down the cases or to escalate via legal
processes. The system has also been improved to flag up all cases where a child has been
subject to a CP Plan for more than 9 months to enable a more detailed review to take
place.

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within
12 months

Rolling Year 25.5 % 24.0 % 25.4 % 24.9 % 22.0 %

We have redesigned the front door so that thresholds are more
consistently applied and early help is offered to those who need this
support. However, it is too early to see if these will reduce our rereferral
rate.

% of (single) assessments completed within 45 working
days

Rolling Year 79.9 % 78.1 % 90.0 %

There has been a steady increase in number of referrals and in addition
cases that have drifted in the past have also been picked up. This
increase in workload has impacted on the timeliness. Close attention is
now being paid to ensure assessments are proportionate to the
presenting issue and completed within the timescale.

% of children whose initial child protection
conferences were held within 15 working days of the
initiation of the s47 enquiries which led to the
conference

Rolling Year 61.0 % 86.0 % 83.7 % 78.4 % 80.0 %
We have identified significant issues in relation to the timeliness child
protection work. We have taken steps to address these and we should see
improvements by Quarter 2.

Rate of children per 10,000 subject to a child
protection plan

Snapshot 35.90 35.00 46.80 36.90 37.00 Peer group rate: 45.9 National rate: 60.0

% of children becoming subject to a Child Protection
Plan for a 2nd or subsequent time

Rolling Year 19.0 % 24.0 % 25.9 % 26.4 % 17.0 %

Detailed work is taking place to look at all aspects of the CP related work.
It is envisaged that processes being put in place will reduce the number
of children becoming subject to a CP Plan for the 2nd or subsequent
time.

% of children becoming subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or subsequent time within 2 years

Rolling Year 10.8 % 11.4 % 18.3 % 10.9 % 10.0 %

% of Child Protection cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 88.0 % 97.0 % 91.7 % 89.9 % 90.0 %

Rate of proven reoffending by young offenders Rolling Year 1.04 0.81 1.11

The April  March 2015 cohort consisted of 290 young people, and the reoffending rate in
Gloucestershire is 33.8%. The average number of reoffences per 100 young people is
1.11. This rate of 33.8% is the same at Quarter 3. A separate report is now being collated
on the local live reoffending tracker data.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Comments 2014/15

Children in Care

Number of children in care in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Snapshot 53 52

Number of Children in Care (CiC) Snapshot 499 522 596 614

Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£827 £833 £904 £900

Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£560 £556 £569 £593

Average weekly cost of residential placements funded
by Social Care

Latest
Quarter

£2,786 £3,226 £3,775 £4,281

Number of adopters approved
Latest
Quarter

15 13 9 9

Number of Care Leavers Snapshot 295 292 310 Figures from March 2017 data collection sheets (snapshot)

Rate of Children in Care Per 10,000 U18 population Snapshot 39.8 42.5 45.3 49.2 42.5

(Peer group rate: 40.7 National rate: 43.1) The number of children in
care has increased but recent audit indicates that the right children are
in care. Reviews and careful planning continues to look at where
children no longer need to be in care and could achieve permanence in
some other way whilst remaining safe and well provided for, this includes
adoption, SGO and return to family.

% of children admitted to care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Rolling Year 21.9 % 16.7 % 12.0 %
Whilst we have seen a decrease in readmissions to care, these are still
too high and will be addressed through our improvement plan.

% of Children in Care in a fostering placement Snapshot 81.8 % 78.5 % 80.0 %

% of Children in fostering who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Snapshot 65.0 % 70.1 % 75.0 %

There have been some changes in the fostering service which will take
effect in June 2017 with the development of a third placement team
which will support our carers to care for more challenging children and
parents. It is anticipated this team will work closely with the recruitment
team to increase our placement availability.

Stability of placements of children in care: Length of
placement

Snapshot 60.9 % 65.4 % 65.5 % 73.1 % 65.4 %

Stability of placements of children in care: Number of
Moves

Snapshot 13.8 % 9.7 % 11.8 % 13.2 % 9.7 %
We are examining this issue closely to explore what actions need to be
taken to improve performance.

% of Children in care cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 93.0 % 91.1 % 95.2 % 95.0 %
The information is being collated currently for submission to DfE by the
end of June. During this process some issues with data collection have
been identified and these will be addressed.

% of overnight short breaks in family based care as
opposed to residential care

Snapshot 61.0 % 61.0 % 65.8 % 59.0 % 65.0 %

No. of children adopted (becoming subject to an
adoption order)

Year to Date 50 49 30 29 30

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were in suitable accommodation

Annual 86.0 % 81.3 % 88.7 %

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were not in employment, education or training

Annual 39.6 % 40.8 % 43.6 %

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Comments 2015/16

Workforce

Agency worker rate (excluding vacancies) Snapshot 10.5 % 10.2 %

This relates to 37 agency social workers at the end of March 2017 (not FTE's) and this
figure covers all Children's Social Workers. Agency Social Workers are used to provide
some cover to vacant posts (currently 17.5 FTE vacancies), maternity cover, sickness and
additional capacity to address demand.

% of Social Work posts which are vacant Snapshot 3.7 % 5.7 % This relates to 17.5 FTE vacancies at the end of March 2017.
Rate of qualified social workers FTE per 10,000 U18 pop Snapshot 22.7 23.4

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Customer Voice & Engagement

Number of Children's Social Care compliments
Latest
Quarter

178 215 201

Number of Children's Social Care complaints
Latest
Quarter

195 175 168

% of Children's Social Care complaints upheld
Latest
Quarter

48.0 % 48.6 % 40.5 %

% of Children in Care who communicated their views at their
statutory review

Year to Date 91.0 % 93.6 % 94.2 % 95.0 %
There were 520 children in care aged 4 and over who had had a review
by 31/3/17. Of these children 490 participated at all their reviews during
the year  giving a % of 94.2 against a target of 95%.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

4

P
age 62

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col10')


Assessment & Safeguarding

Rate of referrals to social care per 10,000 U18
population

Rolling Year 426.0 492.5 438.1 553.4

(Peer group rate: 429.6 National rate: 532.2) This has remained largely the same during
the year 2016/7 with an increase of 50 per 10,000 children having a referral into
Children's Social Care during Quarter 4 which has resulted in a Social Worker assessment
and intervention. This is likely to be due to the changes to the Front Door service and
consistency of thresholds applied at the frontdoor.

Rate of Children in Need per 10,000 U18 population
(exc. Child Protection & Children in Care)

Snapshot 147.0 165.1 163.3 197.4 Peer group rate: 292.1 National rate: 337.7

Total number of disabled children receiving a service
with a personal budget

Snapshot 462 329 443 438

Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Snapshot ? 429 580 457

Number of children on Child Protection Plans for 2
years or more

Snapshot 12 4 7 14

All children on CP plans for 2 years or more have now been reviewed and appropriate
actions are now being taken to either step down the cases or to escalate via legal
processes. The system has also been improved to flag up all cases where a child has been
subject to a CP Plan for more than 9 months to enable a more detailed review to take
place.

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within
12 months

Rolling Year 25.5 % 24.0 % 25.4 % 24.9 % 22.0 %

We have redesigned the front door so that thresholds are more
consistently applied and early help is offered to those who need this
support. However, it is too early to see if these will reduce our rereferral
rate.

% of (single) assessments completed within 45 working
days

Rolling Year 79.9 % 78.1 % 90.0 %

There has been a steady increase in number of referrals and in addition
cases that have drifted in the past have also been picked up. This
increase in workload has impacted on the timeliness. Close attention is
now being paid to ensure assessments are proportionate to the
presenting issue and completed within the timescale.

% of children whose initial child protection
conferences were held within 15 working days of the
initiation of the s47 enquiries which led to the
conference

Rolling Year 61.0 % 86.0 % 83.7 % 78.4 % 80.0 %
We have identified significant issues in relation to the timeliness child
protection work. We have taken steps to address these and we should see
improvements by Quarter 2.

Rate of children per 10,000 subject to a child
protection plan

Snapshot 35.90 35.00 46.80 36.90 37.00 Peer group rate: 45.9 National rate: 60.0

% of children becoming subject to a Child Protection
Plan for a 2nd or subsequent time

Rolling Year 19.0 % 24.0 % 25.9 % 26.4 % 17.0 %

Detailed work is taking place to look at all aspects of the CP related work.
It is envisaged that processes being put in place will reduce the number
of children becoming subject to a CP Plan for the 2nd or subsequent
time.

% of children becoming subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or subsequent time within 2 years

Rolling Year 10.8 % 11.4 % 18.3 % 10.9 % 10.0 %

% of Child Protection cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 88.0 % 97.0 % 91.7 % 89.9 % 90.0 %

Rate of proven reoffending by young offenders Rolling Year 1.04 0.81 1.11

The April  March 2015 cohort consisted of 290 young people, and the reoffending rate in
Gloucestershire is 33.8%. The average number of reoffences per 100 young people is
1.11. This rate of 33.8% is the same at Quarter 3. A separate report is now being collated
on the local live reoffending tracker data.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Comments 2014/15

Children in Care

Number of children in care in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Snapshot 53 52

Number of Children in Care (CiC) Snapshot 499 522 596 614

Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£827 £833 £904 £900

Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£560 £556 £569 £593

Average weekly cost of residential placements funded
by Social Care

Latest
Quarter

£2,786 £3,226 £3,775 £4,281

Number of adopters approved
Latest
Quarter

15 13 9 9

Number of Care Leavers Snapshot 295 292 310 Figures from March 2017 data collection sheets (snapshot)

Rate of Children in Care Per 10,000 U18 population Snapshot 39.8 42.5 45.3 49.2 42.5

(Peer group rate: 40.7 National rate: 43.1) The number of children in
care has increased but recent audit indicates that the right children are
in care. Reviews and careful planning continues to look at where
children no longer need to be in care and could achieve permanence in
some other way whilst remaining safe and well provided for, this includes
adoption, SGO and return to family.

% of children admitted to care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Rolling Year 21.9 % 16.7 % 12.0 %
Whilst we have seen a decrease in readmissions to care, these are still
too high and will be addressed through our improvement plan.

% of Children in Care in a fostering placement Snapshot 81.8 % 78.5 % 80.0 %

% of Children in fostering who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Snapshot 65.0 % 70.1 % 75.0 %

There have been some changes in the fostering service which will take
effect in June 2017 with the development of a third placement team
which will support our carers to care for more challenging children and
parents. It is anticipated this team will work closely with the recruitment
team to increase our placement availability.

Stability of placements of children in care: Length of
placement

Snapshot 60.9 % 65.4 % 65.5 % 73.1 % 65.4 %

Stability of placements of children in care: Number of
Moves

Snapshot 13.8 % 9.7 % 11.8 % 13.2 % 9.7 %
We are examining this issue closely to explore what actions need to be
taken to improve performance.

% of Children in care cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 93.0 % 91.1 % 95.2 % 95.0 %
The information is being collated currently for submission to DfE by the
end of June. During this process some issues with data collection have
been identified and these will be addressed.

% of overnight short breaks in family based care as
opposed to residential care

Snapshot 61.0 % 61.0 % 65.8 % 59.0 % 65.0 %

No. of children adopted (becoming subject to an
adoption order)

Year to Date 50 49 30 29 30

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were in suitable accommodation

Annual 86.0 % 81.3 % 88.7 %

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were not in employment, education or training

Annual 39.6 % 40.8 % 43.6 %

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Comments 2015/16

Workforce

Agency worker rate (excluding vacancies) Snapshot 10.5 % 10.2 %

This relates to 37 agency social workers at the end of March 2017 (not FTE's) and this
figure covers all Children's Social Workers. Agency Social Workers are used to provide
some cover to vacant posts (currently 17.5 FTE vacancies), maternity cover, sickness and
additional capacity to address demand.

% of Social Work posts which are vacant Snapshot 3.7 % 5.7 % This relates to 17.5 FTE vacancies at the end of March 2017.
Rate of qualified social workers FTE per 10,000 U18 pop Snapshot 22.7 23.4

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Customer Voice & Engagement

Number of Children's Social Care compliments
Latest
Quarter

178 215 201

Number of Children's Social Care complaints
Latest
Quarter

195 175 168

% of Children's Social Care complaints upheld
Latest
Quarter

48.0 % 48.6 % 40.5 %

% of Children in Care who communicated their views at their
statutory review

Year to Date 91.0 % 93.6 % 94.2 % 95.0 %
There were 520 children in care aged 4 and over who had had a review
by 31/3/17. Of these children 490 participated at all their reviews during
the year  giving a % of 94.2 against a target of 95%.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

5

P
age 63

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A4','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')


Assessment & Safeguarding

Rate of referrals to social care per 10,000 U18
population

Rolling Year 426.0 492.5 438.1 553.4

(Peer group rate: 429.6 National rate: 532.2) This has remained largely the same during
the year 2016/7 with an increase of 50 per 10,000 children having a referral into
Children's Social Care during Quarter 4 which has resulted in a Social Worker assessment
and intervention. This is likely to be due to the changes to the Front Door service and
consistency of thresholds applied at the frontdoor.

Rate of Children in Need per 10,000 U18 population
(exc. Child Protection & Children in Care)

Snapshot 147.0 165.1 163.3 197.4 Peer group rate: 292.1 National rate: 337.7

Total number of disabled children receiving a service
with a personal budget

Snapshot 462 329 443 438

Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Snapshot ? 429 580 457

Number of children on Child Protection Plans for 2
years or more

Snapshot 12 4 7 14

All children on CP plans for 2 years or more have now been reviewed and appropriate
actions are now being taken to either step down the cases or to escalate via legal
processes. The system has also been improved to flag up all cases where a child has been
subject to a CP Plan for more than 9 months to enable a more detailed review to take
place.

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within
12 months

Rolling Year 25.5 % 24.0 % 25.4 % 24.9 % 22.0 %

We have redesigned the front door so that thresholds are more
consistently applied and early help is offered to those who need this
support. However, it is too early to see if these will reduce our rereferral
rate.

% of (single) assessments completed within 45 working
days

Rolling Year 79.9 % 78.1 % 90.0 %

There has been a steady increase in number of referrals and in addition
cases that have drifted in the past have also been picked up. This
increase in workload has impacted on the timeliness. Close attention is
now being paid to ensure assessments are proportionate to the
presenting issue and completed within the timescale.

% of children whose initial child protection
conferences were held within 15 working days of the
initiation of the s47 enquiries which led to the
conference

Rolling Year 61.0 % 86.0 % 83.7 % 78.4 % 80.0 %
We have identified significant issues in relation to the timeliness child
protection work. We have taken steps to address these and we should see
improvements by Quarter 2.

Rate of children per 10,000 subject to a child
protection plan

Snapshot 35.90 35.00 46.80 36.90 37.00 Peer group rate: 45.9 National rate: 60.0

% of children becoming subject to a Child Protection
Plan for a 2nd or subsequent time

Rolling Year 19.0 % 24.0 % 25.9 % 26.4 % 17.0 %

Detailed work is taking place to look at all aspects of the CP related work.
It is envisaged that processes being put in place will reduce the number
of children becoming subject to a CP Plan for the 2nd or subsequent
time.

% of children becoming subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or subsequent time within 2 years

Rolling Year 10.8 % 11.4 % 18.3 % 10.9 % 10.0 %

% of Child Protection cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 88.0 % 97.0 % 91.7 % 89.9 % 90.0 %

Rate of proven reoffending by young offenders Rolling Year 1.04 0.81 1.11

The April  March 2015 cohort consisted of 290 young people, and the reoffending rate in
Gloucestershire is 33.8%. The average number of reoffences per 100 young people is
1.11. This rate of 33.8% is the same at Quarter 3. A separate report is now being collated
on the local live reoffending tracker data.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Comments 2014/15

Children in Care

Number of children in care in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Snapshot 53 52

Number of Children in Care (CiC) Snapshot 499 522 596 614

Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£827 £833 £904 £900

Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£560 £556 £569 £593

Average weekly cost of residential placements funded
by Social Care

Latest
Quarter

£2,786 £3,226 £3,775 £4,281

Number of adopters approved
Latest
Quarter

15 13 9 9

Number of Care Leavers Snapshot 295 292 310 Figures from March 2017 data collection sheets (snapshot)

Rate of Children in Care Per 10,000 U18 population Snapshot 39.8 42.5 45.3 49.2 42.5

(Peer group rate: 40.7 National rate: 43.1) The number of children in
care has increased but recent audit indicates that the right children are
in care. Reviews and careful planning continues to look at where
children no longer need to be in care and could achieve permanence in
some other way whilst remaining safe and well provided for, this includes
adoption, SGO and return to family.

% of children admitted to care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Rolling Year 21.9 % 16.7 % 12.0 %
Whilst we have seen a decrease in readmissions to care, these are still
too high and will be addressed through our improvement plan.

% of Children in Care in a fostering placement Snapshot 81.8 % 78.5 % 80.0 %

% of Children in fostering who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Snapshot 65.0 % 70.1 % 75.0 %

There have been some changes in the fostering service which will take
effect in June 2017 with the development of a third placement team
which will support our carers to care for more challenging children and
parents. It is anticipated this team will work closely with the recruitment
team to increase our placement availability.

Stability of placements of children in care: Length of
placement

Snapshot 60.9 % 65.4 % 65.5 % 73.1 % 65.4 %

Stability of placements of children in care: Number of
Moves

Snapshot 13.8 % 9.7 % 11.8 % 13.2 % 9.7 %
We are examining this issue closely to explore what actions need to be
taken to improve performance.

% of Children in care cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 93.0 % 91.1 % 95.2 % 95.0 %
The information is being collated currently for submission to DfE by the
end of June. During this process some issues with data collection have
been identified and these will be addressed.

% of overnight short breaks in family based care as
opposed to residential care

Snapshot 61.0 % 61.0 % 65.8 % 59.0 % 65.0 %

No. of children adopted (becoming subject to an
adoption order)

Year to Date 50 49 30 29 30

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were in suitable accommodation

Annual 86.0 % 81.3 % 88.7 %

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were not in employment, education or training

Annual 39.6 % 40.8 % 43.6 %

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Comments 2015/16

Workforce

Agency worker rate (excluding vacancies) Snapshot 10.5 % 10.2 %

This relates to 37 agency social workers at the end of March 2017 (not FTE's) and this
figure covers all Children's Social Workers. Agency Social Workers are used to provide
some cover to vacant posts (currently 17.5 FTE vacancies), maternity cover, sickness and
additional capacity to address demand.

% of Social Work posts which are vacant Snapshot 3.7 % 5.7 % This relates to 17.5 FTE vacancies at the end of March 2017.
Rate of qualified social workers FTE per 10,000 U18 pop Snapshot 22.7 23.4

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Customer Voice & Engagement

Number of Children's Social Care compliments
Latest
Quarter

178 215 201

Number of Children's Social Care complaints
Latest
Quarter

195 175 168

% of Children's Social Care complaints upheld
Latest
Quarter

48.0 % 48.6 % 40.5 %

% of Children in Care who communicated their views at their
statutory review

Year to Date 91.0 % 93.6 % 94.2 % 95.0 %
There were 520 children in care aged 4 and over who had had a review
by 31/3/17. Of these children 490 participated at all their reviews during
the year  giving a % of 94.2 against a target of 95%.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

6

P
age 64

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')


Assessment & Safeguarding

Rate of referrals to social care per 10,000 U18
population

Rolling Year 426.0 492.5 438.1 553.4

(Peer group rate: 429.6 National rate: 532.2) This has remained largely the same during
the year 2016/7 with an increase of 50 per 10,000 children having a referral into
Children's Social Care during Quarter 4 which has resulted in a Social Worker assessment
and intervention. This is likely to be due to the changes to the Front Door service and
consistency of thresholds applied at the frontdoor.

Rate of Children in Need per 10,000 U18 population
(exc. Child Protection & Children in Care)

Snapshot 147.0 165.1 163.3 197.4 Peer group rate: 292.1 National rate: 337.7

Total number of disabled children receiving a service
with a personal budget

Snapshot 462 329 443 438

Number of children subject of a Child Protection Plan Snapshot ? 429 580 457

Number of children on Child Protection Plans for 2
years or more

Snapshot 12 4 7 14

All children on CP plans for 2 years or more have now been reviewed and appropriate
actions are now being taken to either step down the cases or to escalate via legal
processes. The system has also been improved to flag up all cases where a child has been
subject to a CP Plan for more than 9 months to enable a more detailed review to take
place.

% of referrals to Social Care that are rereferrals within
12 months

Rolling Year 25.5 % 24.0 % 25.4 % 24.9 % 22.0 %

We have redesigned the front door so that thresholds are more
consistently applied and early help is offered to those who need this
support. However, it is too early to see if these will reduce our rereferral
rate.

% of (single) assessments completed within 45 working
days

Rolling Year 79.9 % 78.1 % 90.0 %

There has been a steady increase in number of referrals and in addition
cases that have drifted in the past have also been picked up. This
increase in workload has impacted on the timeliness. Close attention is
now being paid to ensure assessments are proportionate to the
presenting issue and completed within the timescale.

% of children whose initial child protection
conferences were held within 15 working days of the
initiation of the s47 enquiries which led to the
conference

Rolling Year 61.0 % 86.0 % 83.7 % 78.4 % 80.0 %
We have identified significant issues in relation to the timeliness child
protection work. We have taken steps to address these and we should see
improvements by Quarter 2.

Rate of children per 10,000 subject to a child
protection plan

Snapshot 35.90 35.00 46.80 36.90 37.00 Peer group rate: 45.9 National rate: 60.0

% of children becoming subject to a Child Protection
Plan for a 2nd or subsequent time

Rolling Year 19.0 % 24.0 % 25.9 % 26.4 % 17.0 %

Detailed work is taking place to look at all aspects of the CP related work.
It is envisaged that processes being put in place will reduce the number
of children becoming subject to a CP Plan for the 2nd or subsequent
time.

% of children becoming subject to child protection
plans for 2nd or subsequent time within 2 years

Rolling Year 10.8 % 11.4 % 18.3 % 10.9 % 10.0 %

% of Child Protection cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 88.0 % 97.0 % 91.7 % 89.9 % 90.0 %

Rate of proven reoffending by young offenders Rolling Year 1.04 0.81 1.11

The April  March 2015 cohort consisted of 290 young people, and the reoffending rate in
Gloucestershire is 33.8%. The average number of reoffences per 100 young people is
1.11. This rate of 33.8% is the same at Quarter 3. A separate report is now being collated
on the local live reoffending tracker data.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target (2 Years in Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 Comments 2014/15

Children in Care

Number of children in care in a residential setting
(exc. Remands)

Snapshot 53 52

Number of Children in Care (CiC) Snapshot 499 522 596 614

Average weekly cost of external foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£827 £833 £904 £900

Average weekly cost of internal foster placements
Latest
Quarter

£560 £556 £569 £593

Average weekly cost of residential placements funded
by Social Care

Latest
Quarter

£2,786 £3,226 £3,775 £4,281

Number of adopters approved
Latest
Quarter

15 13 9 9

Number of Care Leavers Snapshot 295 292 310 Figures from March 2017 data collection sheets (snapshot)

Rate of Children in Care Per 10,000 U18 population Snapshot 39.8 42.5 45.3 49.2 42.5

(Peer group rate: 40.7 National rate: 43.1) The number of children in
care has increased but recent audit indicates that the right children are
in care. Reviews and careful planning continues to look at where
children no longer need to be in care and could achieve permanence in
some other way whilst remaining safe and well provided for, this includes
adoption, SGO and return to family.

% of children admitted to care who have previously
been in care (readmissions)

Rolling Year 21.9 % 16.7 % 12.0 %
Whilst we have seen a decrease in readmissions to care, these are still
too high and will be addressed through our improvement plan.

% of Children in Care in a fostering placement Snapshot 81.8 % 78.5 % 80.0 %

% of Children in fostering who are placed with the in
house fostering service

Snapshot 65.0 % 70.1 % 75.0 %

There have been some changes in the fostering service which will take
effect in June 2017 with the development of a third placement team
which will support our carers to care for more challenging children and
parents. It is anticipated this team will work closely with the recruitment
team to increase our placement availability.

Stability of placements of children in care: Length of
placement

Snapshot 60.9 % 65.4 % 65.5 % 73.1 % 65.4 %

Stability of placements of children in care: Number of
Moves

Snapshot 13.8 % 9.7 % 11.8 % 13.2 % 9.7 %
We are examining this issue closely to explore what actions need to be
taken to improve performance.

% of Children in care cases which were reviewed
within required timescales

Rolling Year 93.0 % 91.1 % 95.2 % 95.0 %
The information is being collated currently for submission to DfE by the
end of June. During this process some issues with data collection have
been identified and these will be addressed.

% of overnight short breaks in family based care as
opposed to residential care

Snapshot 61.0 % 61.0 % 65.8 % 59.0 % 65.0 %

No. of children adopted (becoming subject to an
adoption order)

Year to Date 50 49 30 29 30

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were in suitable accommodation

Annual 86.0 % 81.3 % 88.7 %

The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after
aged 16 who were not in employment, education or training

Annual 39.6 % 40.8 % 43.6 %

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Comments 2015/16

Workforce

Agency worker rate (excluding vacancies) Snapshot 10.5 % 10.2 %

This relates to 37 agency social workers at the end of March 2017 (not FTE's) and this
figure covers all Children's Social Workers. Agency Social Workers are used to provide
some cover to vacant posts (currently 17.5 FTE vacancies), maternity cover, sickness and
additional capacity to address demand.

% of Social Work posts which are vacant Snapshot 3.7 % 5.7 % This relates to 17.5 FTE vacancies at the end of March 2017.
Rate of qualified social workers FTE per 10,000 U18 pop Snapshot 22.7 23.4

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Customer Voice & Engagement

Number of Children's Social Care compliments
Latest
Quarter

178 215 201

Number of Children's Social Care complaints
Latest
Quarter

195 175 168

% of Children's Social Care complaints upheld
Latest
Quarter

48.0 % 48.6 % 40.5 %

% of Children in Care who communicated their views at their
statutory review

Year to Date 91.0 % 93.6 % 94.2 % 95.0 %
There were 520 children in care aged 4 and over who had had a review
by 31/3/17. Of these children 490 participated at all their reviews during
the year  giving a % of 94.2 against a target of 95%.

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Yearly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Target
2016/17

Comments 2016/17

7

P
age 65

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')


Schools & Education

% of good or outstanding Early Years settings Snapshot 82.9 % 84.7 % 89.2 %
% of good or outstanding primary schools Snapshot 90.5 % 92.2 % 93.1 % Gloucestershire ranks 4th in the South West on this measure.
% of good or outstanding secondary schools Snapshot 73.0 % 84.2 % 86.8 % Gloucestershire ranks 5th in the South West on this measure.

Number of schools judged as inadequate Snapshot 7 6 8

The following academies are currently judged inadequate:

Millbrook
Dean Academy
Forest High Academy
St John's Primary Academy, Coleford
St Anthony's Free School

The following schools are currently judged inadequate:

Cam Woodfield Junior School
Moat Primary School
Lakers School

% of pupils attending good or outstanding primary schools Snapshot 91.6 % 93.9 % 95.6 %

Gloucestershire ranks best in the South West on this measure and 22nd nationally.
Gloucestershire primary schools continue to perform well and the vast majority of schools
inspected either retain their previous judgement for improve upon it. Three schools have
been judged 'outstanding' in recent months.

% of pupils attending good or outstanding secondary schools Snapshot 80.2 % 90.3 % 92.0 % Gloucestershire ranks 4th in the South West on this measure.

The total number of pupils entitled to receive school transport
Latest
Quarter

7,648 7,058 6,488 7,000 6,451 6,832

Average daily cost of home to school transport per primary school
pupil

Latest
Quarter

£7.71 £8.22 £9.22 £8.40 £9.09 £7.46

Average daily cost of home to school transport per secondary school
pupil

Latest
Quarter

£4.49 £4.71 £4.25 £3.90 £4.26 £5.15

Average daily cost of home to school transport per special school
pupil

Latest
Quarter

£27.37 £27.21 £30.55 £31.00 £30.70 £27.91

Total average daily cost of home to school transport per pupil
Latest
Quarter

£7.75 £8.41 £8.23 £7.50 £8.20 £8.47

Yearly Trend Analysis  No Target
Reporting
Basis

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Comments 2016/17

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter In Arrears)
Reporting
Basis

Q3 (2014/15) Q3 (2015/16) Q3 (2016/17)
Q3 Target
(2016/17)

Q2 (2016/17) Q1 (2016/17) Comments Q3 (2016/17)

8

P
age 66

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B4','Col10')


Children & Young People  Strategic Risks

SR7.2

Failure of GCC to protect CYP from
abuse or neglect in situations that
could have been predicted or
prevented.

Uren, Linda High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 This risk is being reviewed with a view to increasing risk levels.

SR7.3

Failure to meet service standards for
children's services results in poor
inspection results, impacting on
ability to meet statutory
requirements, reputation and
intervention.

Uren, Linda High 20 High 16 High 16 High 16 High 16 As above.

SR7.4

Educational outcomes for
vulnerable groups of Children &
Young People worsen and the gap
widens because of Schools and
Academies not meeting their
responsibilities to vulnerable groups
and the accelerating costs of
specialist provision.

Browne, Tim High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16

Indicators for vulnerable children show a deteriorating
position.  "Reshaping Education" Project focusing upon vulnerable
children Development of wide ranging High Needs Programme
Implementation of an Inclusion Strategy Establishment of Local
Standards Board

Strategic Risks: Safeguarding Children & Young People

Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk
Residual Risk
Q1 16/17

Residual Risk
Q2 16/17

Residual Risk
Q3 16/17

Residual Risk
Q4 16/17

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

9

P
age 67

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col10')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1. Purpose

To provide the budget outturn figures for the 2016/17 revenue budgets.

The structure of the report reflects the commissioning view of children and families services. 
Services are grouped by Service Level Agreements (SLAs), contracts or specific areas with 
DSG (Dedicated Schools Grant) and non-DSG variances identified. 

DSG is the grant allocated by the Department for Education to fund all education services 
including schools and the total for Gloucestershire is over £412 million. Of this total, £330 
million is delegated to schools and academies with the remainder relating to early years, 
high needs and a small number of central support services which are the responsibility of the 
Local Authority. High needs includes the funding for special schools, pupil referral service, 
additional SEN support for pupils in mainstream schools and post 16 support to colleges.

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 Overall Position

The year end revenue position as at March 2017 for non-DSG funded services is an over-
spend position of £3,833,000 (3.88% of budget). Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded 
services are under-spent by £4,542,000 which includes uncommitted balances brought 
forward from 2015/16.

Over the last three years there has been a sustained increase in demand for social care 
including children coming into care (March 2017 613 cases compared to April 2014 479). 
This has caused considerable pressures on children’s services and in particular against the 
external agency placement and fostering allowances budgets resulting in the over-spend. 
Senior managers have been reviewing all admissions to care as part of a process of 
understanding and challenging practice. In addition robust scrutiny of high cost placements 
has been carried out by senior managers to ensure appropriate provision has been in place  
but the underlying issue has been the volume of placements required. 

This position is analysed in the monitoring spreadsheet provided at attachment 1 to this 
report, based on actual expenditure to March 2017

2.2 Variance Summary

Significant non-DSG variances are as follows:-
 Children in Care – over-spend against the external placement budget of £4,483,000 

(47.9% of budget) is the significant part of the total over-spend of £4,564,000.
 Regulated Services – the forecast over-spend of £794,000 is due to the budget 

pressure against in-house fostering and special guardianship allowances relating to the 

Gloucestershire County Council

2016/17 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report
Commissioner Director: Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis
Year-End Position 2016/17

 

Page 69



number of allowances being paid which is partly offset by income in the adoption services 
from GCC assessed families adopting children from other authorities.

 Safeguarding – staffing budgets received £2,000,000 investment in 2016/17. The 
staffing budgets are £233,000 over-spent due to the use of agency staff while the new 
structure embeds.  Section 17 and discretionary payments for children in care over-spent 
by £546,000 (121.7% of the budget).

 SEN services - budgets have over-spent by £704,000 mainly due to staff restructuring 
costs within the SEN Casework Team and additional staff to meet demands within 
Educational Psychology.

 Quality – over-spend of £144,000 at the year end due to the costs of supporting the 
number of child protection conferences required. 

 Supporting People – budgets are £630,000 under-spent due to additional savings being 
achieved above target.

 Home to School Transport – an underspend of £732,000 has been achieved due to 
staff vacancies and lower expenditure against transport contracts.

 Improved Outcomes – Schools & Academies - under-spent by £190,000 mainly due 
to vacancies within staffing budgets and traded income not previously forecast.

 Children with disability budgets are under-spent by £169,000 due to lower  
expenditure at the residential units, against contracts and care packages.

 Commissioning Function – the under-spend is due to unallocated budgets for inflation 
and activity contingencies being released as approved by COMT (£1,139,000).  

Significant DSG variances are as follows:-
 DSG funded services are under-spent by £4,542,000 which includes uncommitted 

balances brought forward from 2015/16. The uncommitted balances are offsetting the 
budget pressures at Coln House special school in this financial year. These include 
associated costs within the Independent special school fees and recoupment budgets 
that are over-spent by £1,137,000 and a provision for Coln House redundancies. 

 High Needs top up budgets are reporting an increase in spend above budget of 
£399,000 due to increased numbers of pupils being supported within primary and 
secondary schools. 

 Early Years are £675,000 under-spent due to lower nursery payments and further 
support for capacity building for additional nursery places now to occur in 2017/18. 

2.3 Additional Information

The MTC targets for 2016/17 total £6,675,000 and these have been achieved.

3. Detailed Analysis

An analysis of the financial figures is contained in the following attachments:
 Attachment 1 – Net Budget (Outturn) Commissioning Director: Children & Families – 

SLA format
 Attachment 2 – Net Budget (Outturn) – High Risk Analysis
 Attachment 3 – Activity Analysis – External Agency Placements

The detailed analysis is set out under the lead commissioner areas:-

3.1 Quality
 The overspend of £144,000 is due to the cost of agency staffing to cover the need for 

additional Chairs for child protection conferences.

Page 70



3.2 Lead Commissioner Education and Skills 
 Schools - uncommitted balances brought forward including de-delegated balances total 

£5,694,000; £1,500,000 of the balances has been identified to offset spend relating to 
Coln House School and additional placement costs.  

 Improving outcomes for Vulnerable Children - hospital education is overspent by 
£334,000 due to increased activity within the service and private hospital provision and 
alternative provision top up budgets are £219,000 over-spent. There is an over-recovery 
of contributions against the primary and secondary excluded pupil budget of £294,000 
(DSG funded) and an unallocated high needs contingency is also offsetting the above 
position.

 Improving outcomes for Schools & Academies - under-spent by £265,000 mainly due 
to vacancies within staffing budgets and traded income not previously forecast.

 SEN Services – budgets are over-spending in total by £1,909,000 due to independent 
special school fees and recoupment budgets (£1,137,000) due to the additional costs of 
placements following the closure of Coln House. Overall these are offset by balances 
mentioned above. There is an in-year pressure in SEN services due to casework team 
demands and responding to increased activity in high needs cases. 

 School Places & Access services – an under-spend of £819,000 has been reported 
due to staff vacancies across a number of teams and lower expenditure against transport 
contracts (£623,000).

3.3 Lead Commissioner Families
There are significant pressures on budgets related to operational social care services. This 
relates to the demand for child protection services and the number of children in care. 
Details include:-
 Children in Care - the external placement budget is £4,483,000 over-spent (47.9% 

above budget). The volume and cost of placements for both residential and fostering has 
caused the budget to over-spend. Compared with last year there are currently 231 
external placements, compared with 187 at the same point. The financial recovery plan 
has been reviewed and updated to mitigate the volume increases wherever possible. 
The IRIS project is being developed to look at reducing residential costs by supporting 
young people to step down to foster care or to return home. Activity information for the 
last few years is presented in attachment 3. 

 Regulated services - The in-house fostering service is over-spent by £602,000 which 
includes a fostering allowances over-spend of £639,000. The increase in the number of 
allowances, court ordered parent and baby placements and the complexity of some 
cases is causing substantial budget pressures against the allowance budget. Special 
Guardianship Orders are over-spent by £246,000 due to an increased number of orders 
that have been made but this is offset by adoption services receiving £257,000 of 
additional income due to GCC assessed families adopting children from other 
authorities.

 Safeguarding - staffing budgets received £2,000,000 investment in the financial year to 
reduce caseloads to nationally accepted levels. Social workers have been recruited to fill 
the additional posts but agency staff have continued to cover to provide experience 
where there are newly qualified workers or where caseloads remained high. Section 17 
and discretionary payments for children in care are over-spent by £546,000. Changes in 
practice are being introduced replacing the use of ad hoc arrangements with a more 
coherent commissioning framework. Over time this should reduce some of the financial 
pressures in this area. 

Page 71



 Early Years have a £685,000 under-spend against payments for 3&4 year old nursery 
placements and capacity building for two year old places (DSG).

3.4 Lead Commissioner Children’s Health
 Children with Disabilities - budgets are under-spent by £169,000 due to lower 

expenditure at the residential units (£93,000) and against contracts and for care 
packages (£101,000).

3.5 Lead Commissioner Supporting People 
 Supporting People - budgets are £630,000 under-spent due to over achievement of 

savings and less commitments against the welfare grant.

3.6 Commissioning Function
 The under-spend reported (£1,139,000) is due to unallocated budgets for inflation and 

activity contingencies not required this year being released as approved by COMT.  

Page 72



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

Services for CYP £000 £000 DSG   £000
Non DSG 

£000
Total £000 % DSG   £000

Non DSG 

£000
Total £000

Change 

£000

Quality Cathy Griffiths

Quality CF0101 1,525 1,669 0 144 144 9.4% 0 117 117 27

Total Quality 1,525 1,669 0 144 144 9.4% 0 117 117 27

ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Education & Skills Stewart King

Schools CF0201 -41,511 -46,328 -4,804 -13 -4,817 11.6% -3,917 0 -3,917 -900 

SEN CF0202 13,208 15,117 1,205 704 1,909 14.5% -46 193 147 1,762

Improve Outcomes Vulnerable Children CF0203 6,358 6,291 -11 -56 -67 -1.1% 279 -41 238 -305 

Improve Outcomes School & Acad CF0204 2,018 1,753 -75 -190 -265 -13.1% -78 -60 -138 -127 

Improve Outcomes Targ Int Schools CF0205 355 330 -24 -1 -25 -7.0% -41 0 -41 16

Prov Gd Qual Sch Places Access CF0206 14,412 13,593 -87 -732 -819 -5.7% -61 -259 -320 -499 

Adult Education/Life Long Learning CF0208 0 41 0 41 41 100.0% 0 26 26 15

Lead Commissioner Education & Skills CF02-0 177 130 -40 -7 -47 -26.6% -17 -3 -20 -27 

Total Education & Skills -4,983 -9,073 -3,836 -254 -4,090 82.1% -3,881 -144 -4,025 -65 

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Families

Safeguarding CF0301 11,134 11,851 0 717 717 6.4% 0 529 529 188

Children in Care CF0302 10,963 15,527 0 4,564 4,564 41.6% 0 4,109 4,109 455

Regulated Services CF0303 12,062 12,856 0 794 794 6.6% 0 792 792 2

Early Years CF0304 31,174 30,398 -675 -101 -776 -2.5% -134 64 -70 -706 

Lead Commissioner Families CF03-0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Total Commissioner Families 65,333 70,632 -675 5,974 5,299 8.1% -134 5,494 5,360 -61 

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Children's Health Simon Bilous

Disabled Children & Young People CF0401 3,710 3,541 0 -169 -169 -4.6% 0 -104 -104 -65 

Young People Support CF0402 8,732 8,607 0 -125 -125 -1.4% 0 -171 -171 46

Localities Early Intervention CF0403 881 847 -23 -11 -34 -3.9% 0 0 0 -34 

Localities Coordination & Support CF0404 1,931 1,931 0 0 0 0.0% 0 -7 -7 7

Health Contracts CF0405 704 746 0 42 42 6.0% 0 0 0 42

Lead Commissioner Children's Health CF04-0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0

Total Commissioner Children's Health 15,958 15,672 -23 -263 -286 -1.8% 0 -282 -282 -4 

ok ok ok ok ok All ok ok ok ok

Lead Commissioner Supporting People Kath Rees

Supporting People CF0601 11,159 10,529 0 -630 -630 -5.6% 0 -485 -485 -145 

Total Commissioner Supporting People 11,159 10,529 0 -630 -630 -5.6% 0 -485 -485 -145 

CF07 ok ok ok

Commissioning Function 9,735 8,589 -7 -1,139 -1,146 -11.8% -10 -888 -898 -248 

Roundings 0 0 -1 1 0 -1 1 0 0

Total 98,727 98,018 -4,542 3,833 -709 -0.7% -4,026 3,813 -213 -496 

2016/17 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 1

Commissioning Director : Children & Families

Net Budget Analysis

Year-End Actuals March 2017

Variance Prev. Report (Dec) Forecast Variance

P
age 73



Service Area Budget Manager
Full Year 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

High Risk Areas £000 £000 DSG £000
Non DSG 

£000

Total 

£000
% DSG £000

Non DSG 

£000
Total £000

Change 

£000

External Agency Placements Sharon Davies 9,355 13,838 0 4,483 4,483 47.9% 0 4,042 4,042 441

Independent Special Schools Charlotte Jones 7,791 8,928 1,136 1 1,137 14.6% 4 0 4 1,133

Fostering Tammy Wheatley 7,524 8,126 0 602 602 8.0% 0 938 938 -336 

Adoption, Special Guard & Res Orders Tammy Wheatley 4,537 4,731 0 194 194 4.3% 0 -146 -146 340

CWD Care Packages Amanda Henderson 1,245 1,212 0 -33 -33 -2.7% 0 -13 -13 -20 

Contact Team Sharon Davies 459 515 0 56 56 12.2% 0 28 28 28

Safeguarding Staff 9,095 9,328 0 233 233 2.6% 0 58 58 175

Section 17 & Discretionary Payments Various 511 1,173 0 662 662 129.5% 0 518 518 144

High Needs Top-up Budgets Charlotte Jones 22,997 23,395 399 -1 398 1.7% 96 0 96 302

Pensions Stewart King 4,047 4,033 0 -14 -14 -0.3% 0 0 0 -14 

Youth Support - Leaving Care / After Care Alison Williams / Francis Gobey 3,258 3,046 0 -212 -212 -6.5% 0 -171 -171 -41 

Transport Stewart King 12,459 11,836 0 -623 -623 -5.0% 0 -199 -199 -424 

Nursery Education Fees Stewart King 21,940 21,255 -684 -1 -685 -3.1% -150 0 -150 -535 

Roundings 0 0 0 0 0 -1 2 1 -1 

Total 105,218 111,416 851 5,347 6,198 5.9% -51 5,057 5,006 1,192

2016/17 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - ATTACHMENT 2

Commissioning Director : Children & Families Services

High Risk Analysis

Year-End Actuals March 2017

Variance Prev. Report (Dec) Forecast Variance

P
age 74



Annex 3

Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Month 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Month 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Apr 151 131 159 136 153 184 Apr 31 21 31 33 37 55 Apr 102 92 107 89 108 104 Apr 18 21 14 8 19

May 158 134 152 138 162 201 May 28 22 30 36 42 56 May 109 93 101 90 114 118 May 19 21 12 6 19

Jun 159 129 149 142 174 205 Jun 27 23 31 35 45 63 Jun 114 90 95 95 117 119 Jun 16 22 12 12 23

Jul 157 129 149 138 170 226 Jul 23 21 29 36 41 61 Jul 115 94 98 92 115 136 Jul 14 22 10 14 29

Aug 153 126 138 132 169 215 Aug 20 23 24 29 40 57 Aug 113 88 98 94 115 133 Aug 15 16 9 14 25

Sep 161 131 134 136 166 231 Sep 23 23 24 27 40 63 Sep 114 91 95 101 111 145 Sep 17 14 8 15 23

Oct 156 127 135 134 178 221 Oct 24 22 28 22 44 61 Oct 111 89 93 104 119 136 Oct 16 13 8 15 24

Nov 153 127 139 129 176 213 Nov 21 22 31 22 45 61 Nov 110 89 96 100 117 131 Nov 16 11 7 14 21

Dec 155 127 133 124 189 222 Dec 21 24 30 20 51 61 Dec 110 91 91 98 120 133 Dec 12 12 6 18 26

Jan 148 129 138 132 180 217 Jan 20 25 34 24 49 60 Jan 108 93 92 100 113 129 Jan 11 12 8 18 28

Feb 133 126 142 124 178 234 Feb 20 25 34 24 52 61 Feb 94 91 94 95 110 137 Feb 10 14 5 16 36

Mar 137 129 136 143 187 231 Mar 22 25 30 36 53 63 Mar 94 94 91 100 114 134 Mar 10 15 7 20 34

Average 152 129 142 134 174 217 23 23 30 29 45 60 108 91 96 97 114 130 15 16 9 14 26

1. Youth Offending placements account for the difference between the number of residential and fostering placements and the total.

2. Activity includes unaccompanied asylum seekers

3. The numbers are based on placements in the database at the end of a month. Previous months figures are updated as information becomes available

4. Prior to 2011/12 supported living placements were included within the fostering figures

5. There were a significant number of placements which came in during March 2013 which were only identified from April 

Notes

2016/17 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report

Children & Young People’s Services

Activity Analysis - External Agency Placements

Total Agency Placements Total Residential Agency Placements Total Fostering Agency Placements Supported Living Placements

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u

n

J
u

l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e

m
e

n
ts

 

Month 

Total External Agency Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u

n

J
u
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e

m
e

n
ts

 

Month 

Agency Residential Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

A
p

r

M
a

y

J
u

n

J
u

l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

c
e

m
e

n
ts

 

Month 

Agency Fostering Placements 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

0

10

20

30

40

50

A
p

r

M
a
y

J
u
n

J
u

l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o
v

D
e
c

J
a

n

F
e
b

M
a
r

Supported Living Placements 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Ofsted Inspection of Services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers
	CFOSC Q4 2016-17 Performance Report
	CFOSC Performance Annex Q4 FINAL
	CFOSC Annex Q4 FINAL
	Risk addition

	P13 Outturn 16_17 Revenue Monitoring SC
	P13 CF March 2017 App SC




